Professional Responsibility Outline
I.  BACKGROUND
A.  Rules

Sources of Rules:
· Canons of Professional Ethics (1908)

· Code of Professional Responsibility (1970)

· Same problems as canons- too general

· Rules of Professional Conduct (1983 et. seq.)

· All are merely “models” promulgated by the ABA

· State high court adoption (except NY, CA, OH)

· State and local bar association roles

· Voluntary bar associations
· “Integrated bar associations

· Ethics opinions

· Constitution

· 6th Amendment Right to Counsel

· 5th Amendment Privileges and immunities clause

· 1st Amendment

· 6th Amendment Due Process
· 5th Amendment
· Equal Protection
· State and Federal Laws

· NY Judiciary Law

· CA Business and Professions Code

· 28 USC 455

· Attorney-Client Privilege (CPLR 4503; CA Evidence 954; FRE 501)

· SOX

· Anti-trust laws

· Courts v. legislatures
· Inherent powers doctrine

· Negative inherent powers doctrine

· Qualifications for admission

· What is law practice and who can do it?

· Discipline and disbarment

· Courts are guarded but tolerant of legislative efforts

· Federal v. state power

· Federal v. state courts

· Common law

· Fiduciary duty

· Servitude to client is #1

· Major source of ethical requirements 

· Areas of court made law

· Fiduciary duty

· Agency: powers; duties

· Law of lawyer-client relationships

· Civil liability; fee arrangements

· Aiding and abetting

· Civil

· Criminal

Secondary Authorities:
· Restatement of Law Governing Lawyers

· ABA/BNA Manual on Professional Conduct

· Hazard & Hodes, The Law of Lawyering

· Bar association ethics opinions
· On Lexis, Westlaw (limited) and Bar websites

· www.ABANET.org/CPR

B.  Sanctions

Sanctions for Violation:

· Professional discipline

· Suspension

· Disbarment

· Public censure

· Liability to client for malpractice or breach of fiduciary duty

· Liability to 3rd persons

· Loss of fee

· Can apply even if client isn’t otherwise harmed, but lawyer didn’t fulfill an obligation

· Loss of client(s)

· Disqualification from representation
· Adverse publicity and embarrassment

· Discovery sanctions (e.g. Morgan Stanley and Kirkland)

C.  Identifying the Client

· Who is a client?

· Why it’s important

· Formation by contract

· Express

· Implied
· Creation through an agent

· Court appointment
· No (theoretical differentiation in duty just bc the client isn’t paying

· “virtual clients”

D.  Duty to Clients
Competence:

· Distinguished from Neglect (most common complaint)
· Neglect- ignores work to be done

· Incompetence- does the work but does it poorly

· Standards for Competence (p. 27)
· Care, skill, diligence and knowledge

· Reasonably prudent lawyer in jurisdiction

· Means for Enforcing Competence
· Malpractice

· The market

· 6th Amendment Effectiveness

· Discipline (rare)
Confidentiality:

· Not the Same Thing as Privilege
· Privilege is a prohibition against forced use or revelation

· Confidentiality is a prohibition against voluntary use or revelation

· Agency/Ethical Duty v. Evidence Doctrine
· With loyalty, one of the twin pillars of professional duty

· Foundation for conflict rules

· Duty arises from lawyer’s role as agent

· Values served: Practical and Normative
· Scope

· Almost all information is confidential
· Information gained about client through or after representation
· Confidentiality duty survives the relationship
· Rules:

· 1.6(a)- “relating to” (broad); client has to give informed consent

· 1.8(b)- only bans use that is to C’s disadvantage

· If lawyer gains, but no harm to C, information is not confidential
· 1.9(c)- above rules apply to former and potential clients as well as current clients
· The Battle is over the Exceptions:
· 1.6(b)(1)- necessary to prevent death or bodily harm (since 2002, danger does not have to be imminent)

· 1.6(b)(2-3)- prevent/mitigate financial harm

· 1.6(b)(4-6)- to secure ethical advice, establish L’s claim/defense against C; or to comply with court orders

Rule 1.6(a)

A lawyer shall not reveal information relating to the representation of a client unless the client gives informed consent, the disclosure is impliedly authorized in order to carry out the representation or the disclosure is permitted by paragraph (b).

Rule 1.6(b)
(b) A lawyer may reveal information relating to the representation of a client to the extent the lawyer reasonably believes necessary:

(1) To prevent reasonably certain death or substantial bodily harm (until 2002, the harm or death had to be “imminent”, the actor had to be the client, and the act had to be a crime); 
(2)  To prevent the client from committing a crime or fraud that is reasonably certain to result in substantial injury to the financial interests or property of another and in furtherance of which the client has used or is using the lawyer’s services; 

(3) to prevent, mitigate, or rectify substantial injury to the financial interest or property of another that is reasonably certain to result or has resulted from the client’s commission of a crime or fraud in furtherance of which the client has used the lawyer’s services; 

(4) To secure legal advice about the lawyer’s compliance with these Rules; 

To establish a claim or defense on behalf of the lawyer in a controversy between the lawyer and the client, to establish a defense to a criminal charge or civil claim against the lawyer based upon conduct in which the client was involved, or to response to allegations in any proceeding concerning the lawyer’s representation of the client; or
(6) To comply with other law or a court order.
Rule 1.8(b)

A lawyer shall not use information relating to representation of a client to the disadvantage of the client unless the client gives informed consent, except as permitted or required by these Rules.

Rule 1.9(c)

(c)  A lawyer who has formerly represented a client in a matter or whose present or former firm has formerly represented a client in a matter shall not thereafter:

(1)  use information relating to the representation to the disadvantage of the former client except as these Rules would permit or require with respect to the client, or when the information has become generally known; or

(2)  Reveal information relating to the representation except as these Rules would permit or require with respect to a client.

Perez v. Kirk & Carrigan 

Facts:

Perez tells story to lawyer; lawyer turns information over to DA; Perez gets indicted.

Perez sues on breach of fiduciary duty (alleges intentional wrongdoing, not incompetence or neglect- CORRECT).

L says Perez was never a client.
· What is the theory of liability?

· Was Perez a client?

· Rules 1.13(f), 4.3

· What are the firm’s defenses?

· No attorney-client relationship

· No privilege bc 3rd person present

· Duty to Coca-Cola

· No damages

· Information from “potential” clients

· In re Holley (p. 28)

· L should have clarified that they didn’t represent him

· L had duty to employer, could not have represented him

· Perez was reasonable to think they did

· The fact that a 3rd party was present did not absolve them

· Perez can tell his business, but lawyer can’t
· Disadvantage to Perez was mental/emotional/reputational

Hypo: My Client is HIV Positive (p. 23)

· Is the information confidential?
· Yes. Rule 1.6- it “relates to” the representation bc client thought it might get him bail, so he told L

· Who is the client?

· Is Anna also a client? She’s paying the fee and posting bail

· Legal representation is of boyfriend, so he’s the client even though the girlfriend is paying.

· Payment alone does not establish an attorney-client relationship.

· Rule 1.8(f), 5.4(c)

· Lawyer represented her on probate matter

· Does any exception apply?

· 1.6(b)(1)0 bodily harm is reasonably certain.

· Should the lawyer reveal if he may?

· Girlfriend will get more $ in a suit against lawyer if she contracts HIV than boyfriend would get in a suit for breach of duty. Lawyer should tell!

· Does he have any other options?
Hypo:  All’s Not Well (p. 23)

· Ben gets real estate report that doesn’t mention existing well problem. Sellers (clients) won’t let Ben tell potential buyers.
· Information is confidential bc it’s directly relevant.  Ben’s method of finding out the info doesn’t matter.

· Exceptions:

· 1.6(b)(3)- mitigate substantial harm

· Protection exists bc a 3rd party will get hurt

· Client using lawyer as a tool to further fraud

· Will revelation actually mitigate the loss?

· Is it actually fraud?

· NOT 1.6(b)(2) bc fraud has already been committed

· What should lawyer do?

· Ben should first try to get client to be open about it.

· If not, Ben should tell!

E.  Entity Clients
· Entities have more privilege and protection than individuals bc more people’s speech is confidential.

· It is very hard to draw the line between granting client protection and not making discovery impossible.

· Major tests:

· Control group test

· Subject matter test

· Can be broad or narrow

· Supreme Court version is unclear
Hypo: Slip and Fall (p. 31)
· Since Todd is not a lawyer, how can there be a privilege?

· Interviewees
· Burkow, head of maintenance

· Morse, who last waxed the floors

· Sandstrom, salesperson in nearby department

· McCormick, buyer in store on day off

· Corcoran, Burkow’s predecessor, set waxing protocol

· Rivera, president of company providing wax

· Kuhl, customer

· Under the (i) control group (ii) Upjohn (iii) Samaritan, and (iv) Restatement tests, are the interviews with each interviewee privileged?

	Person
	Control Gp. test
	Upjohn test
	Samaritan test
	Restatement

	Burkow
	yes
	yes
	yes
	yes

	Morse
	no
	yes
	yes
	yes

	Sandstrom
	no
	no

ambiguous, but she’s only a witness

assume court meant “in the scope of employment”
	no
	yes

	McCormick
	no
	no
	no
	yes

	Corcoran


	???

Unclear if c.g. test applies
	
	
	

	Rivera
	no
	no
	no
	no

not an agent of the entity

	Kuhl
	no
	no
	no
	no

see Rivera


F.  Exceptions to Privilege and Confidentiality:

· “Everything we discuss is just between us”

· Encourages clients to speak candidly.  Discussing the laundry list of exceptions may be intimidating.

· Self-defense and Fee Collection (Confidentiality)
· Expansion to retaliatory discharge and discrimination

· Anticipatory self-defense
· Friend case- the court accepted that in anticipation, the lawyer could testify as to confidences.

· Lawyers can use client’s confidence to collect fees (although the record may be sealed).

· ABA expanded rule for bodily harm or death.

· Waiver (Privilege)
· By putting advice in issue- reliance on counsel defense “my lawyer told me it was legal”
· But this allows the other party to prove further what the lawyer said to you

· Compare Von Bulow- Dershowitz- after conviction was reversed, he wrote a book recounting his conversations with Von Bulow.  The wife’s children sued and their lawyer tried to depose Dershowitz under the theory that it was already revealed.  The 2nd Circuit said the advice in issue waiver applies when you use it in the legal system, not when you reveal it in a public forum.  There, the waiver extends only to what you revealed.
· By revealing

· Limited waiver(?)- if a company is under investigation, and hires a lawyer for an internal investigation, it may want to offer the lawyer’s investigation to the regulatory/investigating body and try to avoid charges.

· Does this waive the privilege in subsequent civil actions?  

· No, the courts recognize limited waiver, but most circuits have rejected this waiver.

· By revealing to 3rd persons: Kovel and PR firms- lawyers can’t practice alone.
· If you have to consult with a DNA expert or economist, those conversations with the support person or expert are also privileged bc of the lawyer’s privilege.

· Kovel- expert was an accountant.  Lawyer consults with a PR expert. The courts are divided in whether PR experts are experts under the law for purposes of privilege.

· Crime-Fraud exception to privilege

· The communications between lawyer and client are not protected in the case of fraud if there is fraud on the part of the e.g., a lawyer helping with the sale of a house but actually money laundering.

· Tobacco litigation (fraud on the public)- if it can be shown that big tobacco consciously suppressed the dangers of smoking, that’s fraud.
· Zolin (procedural issues)- specified crime-fraud exception.
· If П sued Δ for fraud and claims that П used Δ’s services and wants to defeat privilege.  The object of the litigation is to establish a fraud.  The court created a lower hurdle for creating the existence of a fraud to get communications to attempt to satisfy the fraud action n the merits (clarify from case in text).

· Prospective crimes or frauds (or injury therefrom) and confidentiality

· Rule 1.6(b)(2) and (3)

· Interplay between privilege and confidentiality exceptions:  Purcell (p. 52)
II. ROLE OF LAWYERS
A.  Lawyer as Agent

· Authority to act for the client within the scope of the representation- if you are representing for the purchase of the house, you have no authority to represent in other actions like an employment negotiation.
· The client gives the authority of the scope.

· Authority: where does it come from?

· Actual (express or implied by retainer or description of the scope of the work)

· Inherent- certain kinds of agency relationships that give an agent authority merely by entering into the relationship unless you negate this authority expressly.  This has not caught on a lot.
· Apparent- form of estoppel.  There may not be apparent or implied authority; there may even be an express statement that there is no authority.  But a third person could reply on the appearance of the authority such that the clients is estopped from denying its existence.
· Settlement- you do not settle without the client’s agreement.
· Taylor and Cotto:  Lawyer strays, client pays

· You must give notice that you are going to give alibi.  Taylor court said he could not present alibi witnesses.

· Vicarious admissions (and hearsay rules)

· Any agent or employee speaking within the scope of the agency or employment is admissible against the company (truck driver admitting fault can be admissible against the company).

· See, e.g., FRE 801(d)(2)(C) and (D)

· Press statements

· Superseded pleadings- lawyer writes an amended complaint, but the first complaint is still there to be used.
· Risk of disqualification (McKeon, p. 61)- on retrial he changed his theory of defense.  Attorney was disqualified.
· Judicial admissions (binding)

· Vicarious admissions can be explained, but a judicial admission is binding, e.g. defense lawyer admits a fact at trial.

B.  Lawyer as Fiduciary

· Lawyers are “unique” and “ultimate” fiduciaries
· Lawyers must have their clients’ best interests at heart (within the scope of representation).
· One way to address this is to put the agreement in writing- avoids ambiguity.

· Reasons for fiduciary status once relationship formed:

· Client dependence and trust (to be encouraged)

· Client will have given confidences (ditto)

· Difficulty of changing lawyers

Loyalty and Diligence
· Loyalty is a bedrock principle behind conflicts rules

· Derived from fiduciary status, it means the lawyer is free to (and does) purse the client’s interests within the scope of the representation and without conflicting duties to others or self-interest.

· Diligence means you work with appropriate speed.

C.  Duty to Inform and Advise
· Nichols v. Keller (p. 66)

· Legal basis for the claim (malpractice)

· How did the firm err?

· “the client never asked”.

· Robert Caine’s complaint:  “He’s in conference”.

· Communicating settlement offers

· “Paul Newman’s” lapse.
Model Rules 1.2(a)

Subject to paragraphs (c) and (d), a lawyer shall abide by a client’s decisions concerning the objectives of representation and, as required by Rule 1.4, shall consult with the client as to the means by which they are to be pursued.

The lawyer should confer with the client to try to ensure the client has all the information.  There is a heightened responsibility to ?

Model Rule 1.4

(a) a lawyer shall:

(1) promptly inform the client of any decision or circumstance with respect to which the client’s informed consent, as defined in Rule 1.0(e), is required by these Rules; 

(2) reasonably consult with the client about the means by which the client’s objectives are to be accomplished;

(3) keep the client reasonably informed about the status of the matter; 

(4) promptly comply with reasonable requests for information…

(b) A lawyer shall explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary to permit the client to make informed decisions regarding the representation.

“In a Box” (p. 70)
· Clients:  Jennie Marsh, Font & Blue (Mort Green, president)

· Law partners:  Martin Chin and Sally Zagott

· Endicott Press

· Firm represents Marsh in a deal with Endicott and others.  Endicott will manage the venture.  Zagott is doing the work.

· Coincidentally, Chin, on behalf of Font & Blue, learns of a criminal investigation of F&B that is focusing on Endicott too.

· Zagott doesn’t know.

· May the firm tell Marsh about Endicott?

· No, the information belongs to F&B. This cannot be revealed/confidential.  

· Must it not tell her?

· The firm must not tell without a waiver of confidentiality.

· Can Chin avoid problems by not telling Zagott about Endicott?

· See Rule 1.10(a) and comment 2:  “A firm…is essentially one lawyer…”
· For the purposes of client loyalty, a firm is one lawyer, even with a number of lawyers in the firm.  They all have the same duty of loyalty to the clients of each of them
· Is Chin allowed to tell Zagott?

· Chin can tell Zagott- lawyers within the firm can share info with each other bc they have the same duties.

· Rule 1.6 comment 5

· What about Chin’s “proximate cause” point?

· Can the firm get Green’s informed consent to tell Marsh?

· Rule 1.0(e):

· “informed consent” denotes the agreement by a person to a proposed course of conduct after the lawyer has communicated adequate info and explanation about the material risks of and reasonably available alternatives to the proposed course of conduct.

· Informed consent is not likely in this case; can a firm give objective advice about giving consent since they have a business interest in getting consent?

· Can the firm represent Marsh and not tell her?

· No.  The party to the joint venture needs to know.  It would be malpractice to conceal that info.

· So what must or may the firm do?  Is it “in a box” bc it can’t tell and can’t not tell?  How does it get out of the box?

· You must withdraw from representing Marsh bc you can’t tell her and you must tell her.

· Sometimes you have to let go of clients bc you can’t get consent.

· In any event, can the firm tell Marsh, “don’t do the deal, we can’t say why”?

· The firm can’t tell Marsh why they are withdrawing.  They can tell her not to do the deal.
Other Authorities on the Duty to Inform:
· Barnes v. Turner, 2004 WL 2824213 (GA 2004)

· Bank Brussels Lambert v. Fiddler Gonzalez & Rodriguez, 305 F. 3d 120 (2d Circuit 2002) (addressing informational conflicts).

· Lending money to modernize facilities in Puerto Rico.  Consortium needed law firm to review UCC records on the security (prior liens, etc.).  Hired Fiddler Gonzalez.  Fiddler learned before the closing that the debtor-to-be was cooking the books.  The information was confidential to another client and they didn’t say anything.  The deal fell in and Bank Brussels lost most of its money.  They sued in NY.

· What was Fiddler’s obligation?  The bank said they should have withdrawn if they had this confidential info.  Fiddler said this had nothing to do with the task they were hired for.  Judge Sotomayor said there was a relationship and they could go to trial.  Fiddler said the bank still wouldn’t have had the info even if they had withdrawn.  Bank said a last minute withdrawal would have been a signal something was up.  Judge said it was a plausible proximate cause case.

· Florida v. Nixon, 124 S.Ct. 551 (2004):  “Defense counsel undoubtedly has a duty to discuss potential strategies with the Δ”.

D.  Autonomy of Lawyers and Clients
· Compare “informed consent” in medicine.

· Essentially, autonomy refers to how the law allocates the right (a) to make certain decisions and (b) to be told of the decisions.

· The value behind autonomy,  like the values behind confidentiality, are both normative and practical.

· Autonomy for clients is necessary bc:

· Respect for a person’s right to make or join in making decisions that affect her life, perhaps fundamentally.  People have the right to choose to make decisions for themselves.
· Respect encourages candor and trust.

· Autonomy for lawyers is necessary bc:

· Conferring on all decisions is impossible.

· Lawyers will make better decisions on complex legal or strategic issues.

· Respect for the lawyer as a professional (not just a “mouthpiece”).

E.  The Lawyer’s Autonomy
Jones v. Barnes (p. 73)

Convicted client asks lawyers to raise these points. Lawyer says these points are weak and doesn’t.  Conviction is affirmed.  client says 6th Amendment was violated.

· C says 6th Amendment was violated.
· Supreme Court ultimately says no, there are some things lawyers are better at.  There wasn’t ineffective assistance of counsel.

· Court does not address Melinger’s ethical duty

· Why not require Melinger to raise Barnes’s nonfrivolous issues even if he thinks it’s tactically foolish to do so?

· Is there a systematic interest?
· Is Barnes being treated differently bc his lawyer is assigned?

· Should a criminal defense lawyer get client consent before:

· Deciding whether the client will testify

· Waiving a preliminary hearing
· Talking to the DA about a possible plea bargain

· Asserting an affirmative defense

· Asking for a lesser included offense charge

· Deciding which witnesses to call

· Challenging a juror peremptorily.

· And who decides if the lawyer and client disagree?

“Ms. Niceperson”  (p. 72)

· Raising a perennial question:  Is a lawyer a client’s SOB or can she be a nice person?

· My clients hire me to be their junkyard dog.
· Lawyer asks for a further extension.  Other lawyer knows she can’t grant an effective extension, he has to go to court.  

· Without informing her client, can Ms. N (a) tell Gary he needs a court order; (b) choose not to tell?
· The lawyer can tell the other lawyer he needs a court order.  The lawyer is not hired to take advantage of the other lawyer’s misfortune.  

· Nothing will happen to the lawyer if she doesn’t tell.

· If the client says don’t tell, can she anyway?
· How does this differ from an opponent’s failure to assert an “obvious defense” like limitations?

· There may be some strategic reasons not to asset a claim like statute of limitation.  You may want to waive this objection to resolve the issue legally and set precedent.  There is no good reason to default by failing to file a court order.

· Does Ms. N have any other options?

· She could refuse to grant the extension without telling him why.  He then has to go to court and that will save him anyway.

“I Don’t Bargain” (p. 73)

· Can a defense lawyer who does not wish to plea bargain, but only try cases, adopt that policy after fully informing prospective clients and assuming any plea overtures are duly conveyed to the client to pursue with other counsel if the client wishes?

· You can’t refuse to bargain as a categorical policy.  You should instigate plea bargain possibilities as good strategy.  If a plea bargain comes in, it may come in when the lawyer can’t negotiate the plea with the prosecutor.  It may be a very time limited offer.

· If the policy is impermissible, does the lawyer have alternatives that will enable him to practice as he pleases?

· You could hire another lawyer to handle the activity outside the courtroom and work as a team.

F.  The Client’s Autonomy

Olfe v. Gordon (p. 80)

Client said she would take a mortgage, but it had to be a first mortgage.  Lawyer didn’t and person defaulted.  Client sued under a negligence theory.

· Claim is stated as negligent failure to follow instructions (within Olfe’s authority).

· Could it also be an intentional tort (fiduciary duty) or breach of contract?  Why does Olfe prefer negligence?

· Malpractice insurance covers negligence but maybe not breach of fiduciary duty or breach of contract.

· Does Olfe win bc she said she wanted a first mortgage?  What if she had said nothing?

· Issue of expert testimony?

· Can a jury know what a reasonably prudent jury would do?  Court said a lay jury could understand what was malpractice in this case.

· Why does Olfe win and Barnes lose?
“I’d Rather Die” (p. 79)

· Malcolm Voss, on death row for 8 years, tells his L, Emily, to stop appealing.  He’d rather die than live on death row.

· Emily has a promising lead that may get Voss a new trial.  Voss isn’t interested and instructs Emily to file no more papers.

· Emily tells Voss she has a “problem with his position”.  Voss replies that he will fire her to solve her problem.

· What must Emily do?  Can she ask the court to appoint a guardian for Voss?

· As long as the client is capable of making the decision, the lawyer has to stand aside and give up the appeals.

· Rule 1.16 comment 6.

“Accept the Offer”  (p. 79)

· Chloe and Russell and married 12 years and have 2 children, 4 and 8.

· R is a banker.  Chloe taught 3rd grade before eth older child was born, but has not worked outside the home since then.

· R’s lawyer makes a very low first offer.

· Chloe tells, Greg, her lawyer, to take it even though…

· G (based on 26 years of practice) says with a single phone call to R’s L, he can get $350K (another 30% on the property settlement), $50K more yearly (50% more) on support, and it will still be too low.

· Chloe:  “I feel bad about hurting R.  I can live with this.  R is a good person and will do what’s right”

· Greg:  “I’ve seen this before.  Women who want too little and men who want to give away the store, both operating from guilt.  I’ve always been able to talk them out of it.  Chloe will regret this in 6 months, but I don’t think I can change her mind.  What do I do?

· Specialists are held to a higher standard when it comes to malpractice than generalists.

G.  Termination of the L-C Relationship
· When can or must the lawyer withdraw?

· Rule 1.16

· Withdrawing for financial motives.

· Clients can traditionally terminate for any reason or no reason subject to 

· Permission from the court if the lawyer has appeared

· Laws (like Title VII or retaliatory discharge claims) that protect employees, including employed lawyers.

· Risks if the status is left unclear.

H.  Rule 4.2:  The No-Contact Rule

“(1) In representing a client, a lawyer shall not (2) communicate about (3) the subject of the representation with a (4) person the lawyer (5) knows to be represented by another lawyer(6) in the matter, unless the lawyer has the consent of the other lawyer or is authorized to do so by law or a court order.
· What does the rule forbid?

· You can’t communicate with another lawyer’s client when you represent a different client in that matter. 

· If the lawyer is not representing a client in the matter, the lawyer can talk to the client.

· The lawyer can talk to the client about everything except the subject of the representation.

· There must be actual knowledge that the client is represented by a lawyer in the matter.

· Reasons for the rule

· Dealing with the client may take advantage of the situation.

· The paternalism issue

· Two exceptions

· Consent of the other lawyer

· Authorized by court order or law

· Non-lawyer investigators: the duty to instruct and control.

· Lawyers often use investigators who may have difference techniques.

Niesig v. Team I (p. 93)

· When the opponent is an entity, who cannot be contacted?
· Pre-Niesig caselaw:

· Tying the rule to the vicarious admission hearsay rule.

· Courts used to say you couldn’t talk to people who might create vicarious admissions against the country.

· Confusing the issue with corporate privilege.

· Extending it to former employees.

· Distinguishes Upjohn and various admissions (the NY variation)

· Holds that the rule prohibits communications with:

· “alter egos: of the entity (whose acts or omissions are “binding” on it).

· Those implementing advice of counsel.

· Those whose acts or omissions are imputed to the entity for purposes of liability.

· Former employees are outside the rule.

· Be clear about your status.  

· Rule 4.3, Niesig.

Model Rule 4.2 comment 7

In the case of a represented organization, this Rule prohibits communications with a constituent of the organization who supervises, directs or regularly consults with the organization’s lawyer concerning the matter or has authority to obligate the org with respect to the matter or whose act or omission in connection with the matter may be imputed to the org for purposes of civil or criminal liability.  Consent of the organization’s lawyer is not required for communication with a former constituent.

Slip and Fall Redux (p. 92)
· Cora Lundquist, П Edith Walton’s L, want to (or have her investigator) communicate about the incident with each person that Tracy’s investigator, Mike Todd, interviewed and with Todd as well.

· Under the Rules, can she talk to Todd, Burkow, Moss, Sandstrom, McCormick, Corcoran, Rivera and Kuhl?

Special Contexts:

· What if the entity agent gets her own lawyer?

· When the government is the adversary.

· The 1st Amendment’s protection of the right to petition the government.  When the government is the adversary, protection of the no-contact rule is reduced bc of the right to petition the government. (p. 99)
· ABA opinion 97-408 and Restatement 101 (p. 99).

· Testers

· Especially important in discrimination cases (p. 99).

· Can lawyers suggest and advise on client-to-client contacts?

· Client to client contact is not forbidden.  A client may ask the lawyer to advise on the client contact.

· “parties to a matter may communicate directly with each other, and a lawyer is not prohibited from advising a client concerning a communication that the client is legally entitled to make.

· Rule 4.2 comment 4.
Model Rule 3.4(f)

Employer can ask the employee not to give relevant information.
A lawyer shall not…

(f) request a person other that a client to refrain from voluntarily giving relevant info to another party unless:

(1) the person is a relative or an employee or other agent of a C; and 

(2) the lawyer reasonably believes that the person’s interests will not be adversely affected by refraining from giving such information.

The “No-Contact” Rule in Criminal Cases

· The rule and the 6th Amendment right to counsel.

· Must federal prosecutors comply with the ethical rules, including the no-contact rule, of their state of admission?

· Pre-Hammad

· Hammad:  What does it stand for now?
· Goldstein was wired to elicit incriminating statements.  They knew he had counsel and no-contact was in place.  Hammad made incriminating statement and his lawyers moved to dismiss bc of no-contact violations.

· The trial judge suppressed the statements, but the 2nd Circuit reversed in a series of 4 opinions.  What started as a sweeping opinion ended as a very narrow one.  They said it was improper under no-contact bc the sham grand jury notice gave some impression the court was involved.

· There is no right to counsel until some accusatory instrument is filed (followed in 2nd Circuit, but not in other jurisdictions).

· The sham subpoena- today, Hammad stands for the proposition that the sham notice made the difference.
· The Thornburgh Memo

· Memo created a rule about contact before the 6th Amendment attaches so that anything falls within the authorized exception (creating a safe harbor for prosecutorial conduct).  This memo was criticized as poorly thought out.

· The Reno Rules

· Later, AG Reno drafted rules that became part of the code of federal regulations.  These enabled federal prosecutors to do what may be forbidden by the state no-contact rules.

· The 8th Circuit opinion

· Held the Justice Dept. was not delegated to draft these rules and therefore they could not be authorized by law.

Rep. McDade Strikes Back

A PA congressman was indicted and acquitted and he hated the Justice Dept.  He proposed a statute that was adopted that said federal lawyers are bound by ethical rules of the jurisdiction in which they practice (also the ABA’s opinion).  But does this still forbid that type of investigation?

28 USC § 530B:

An attorney for the Government shall be subject to State laws and rules, and local Federal court rules, governing attorneys in each State where such attorney engages in that attorney’s duties, to the same extent and in the same manner as other attorneys in that State.
“The Sting” (p. 101)

· US Attorney Workman is investigating commercial bribery.

· Wall and Blakely are among the suspects.

· B is offered a deal in exchange for getting a taped conversation with W revealing past bribes and continuing concealment.

· Workman knows W has counsel on the matter (no-counsel on its face is applicable).

· Can Workman do this consistent with Rule 4.2 and Hammad?

· It is probably not risky.  Hammad doesn’t stand for the proposition that there shouldn’t be investigation of ongoing crime.  Also, there’s no sham subpoena which is the main point of Hammad. 

· Sending B in wired is authorized by law and Hammad would recognize this exception.

· MN and 9th Circuit have recently looked to Hammad more broadly and MN overturned a case based on this.

III. CONFLICTS
A.  Introduction

· Why conflict rules are important

· Disqualification

· Disqualification can anger clients who you may have spent hours working on.

· Fiduciary duty claims

· You can be sued for breach of fiduciary duty; more often conflicts are asserted as part of a malpractice claim.

· Fee disgorgement or forfeiture

· “A disloyal agent forfeits his fee.”  If there is a conflict, you may have to give up or give back your fee (under common law all of the fee).
· Adverse publicity
· Client relations

· Conflicts distinguished from duties previously studies (loyalty, confidentiality, etc.)

· The concentric circles:

· Inner circle:  duties define bad conduct

· You can’t do those things regardless of whether there is a conflict or not

· Outer circle:  too close to bad conduct

· Defines the boundaries of the things, but may be too close to the bad conduct.  Lawyers may be tempted to trespass into the bad conduct.

· Outer circle can be waived by a fully informed client consent who chooses to use a lawyer notwithstanding the conflict.

· Conflicts rules defined an unacceptable level of temptation and mean to insure client trust.

· Clients are more likely to trust lawyers if they stay away from the boundary of bad conduct.

· Types of conflicts:

· Concurrent (with other clients, 3rd persons, self-interest)

· Successive (with duties to former clients)

· Duty to current client is in tension with duty to former clients.  Duty to former client is less, but it does exist.  There is certainly a duty to maintain continued confidentiality.

· Imputed conflicts (a firm is one lawyer (Rule 1.10(a))

· Conflict of one lawyer in a firm becomes the conflict of other lawyers in a firm.

· Lateral lawyer conflicts

· Screening- a few jurisdictions (but not the model rules) use this to facilitate movement between firms without the lateral lawyers conflict being imputed to the new firm; not all jurisdictions have accepted it.  There is some ambiguous case law in NY, but no NY rule.
· Former government lawyers:  a special rule- encouraging people to go into government service.  This gets discouraged if it is difficult to get employment later bc of conflicts as a result of their government service.  Most jurisdictions allow screening for government lawyers.

· Conflicts in entity representation

· Conflict Rules are default rules (mostly)

· The lawyer and client can agree to a different set of rules.

· Most conflict rules are strict liability rules

· There is no mens rea.  This requires lawyers to be very diligent.

· Informed consent can displace most default rules.
· In favor of the lawyer

· “confirmed in writing”

· If the client is unsophisticated or the waiver is significant, you may want to encourage the client to seek outside counsel and examine it carefully.

· Consent in writing is not yet required in NY, but the ABA requires lawyers to confirm consent in writing.

· Powerful clients can insist on more restrictive rules that favor the client.

· Policy considerations:

· The need for predictability
· “How risk averse are you?”

· Protecting a client’s interest in being able to retain counsel of choice- the broader the restrictions, the less able other clients are to hire lawyers who are conflicted.
· Encouraging trust in the professional relationship

· Recognition of legitimate career interests of lawyers (e.g. job change, specialists)

· Specializing narrows the pool of potential clients.  If the rules are very restrictive, there may be very few clients you can represent.

· Avoid tactical abuse of the rules

Key Conflict Provisions in the Model Rules:

· 1.7:  current client conflicts:  the generic rule
· 1.8:  special current client conflict rules

· 1.9:  former client conflict rules

· 1.10:  imputation rules

· 1.11:  rules for former government lawyers

· 1.12:  rules for judges (and law clerks)

· 1.13:  rules for entity lawyers

What is a current client conflict?

Rule 1.7(a):  “A concurrent conflict of interest exists if:
(1) the representation of one client will be directly adverse to another client; or

(2) there is a significant risk that the representation of one or more clients will be materially limited by the lawyer’s responsibilities to another client, a former client or a 3rd person or by a personal interest of the lawyer.”

B.  Lawyer-Client Conflicts

Rule 1.8(a):

The rule provides procedural and substantive protection:

“A lawyer shall not enter into a business transaction with a client or knowingly acquire an ownership, possessory, security or other pecuniary interest adverse to a client unless:
(1) the transaction and terms on which the lawyer acquires the interest are fair and reasonable to the client and are fully disclosed and transmitted in writing in a manner that can be reasonably understood by the client; 
(2) the client is advised in writing of the desirability of seeking and is given a reasonable opportunity to seek the advice of independent legal counsel on the transaction; and 
(3) the client gives informed consent, in a writing signed by the client, to the essential terms of the transaction and the lawyer’s role in the transaction, including whether the lawyer is representing the client in the transaction.”
Matter of Neville (p. 191) (decided under the weaker attorney-client rules)
Facts:

· Court assumed Bly knew that Neville did not represent him on the land deal (though he did on other matters)

· Bly dictated the economic terms

· Bly was sophisticated about real estate, unlike Neville
· Neville drafted the documents

· Neville is disciplined.  Court:  “The rule is strict… ‘Full disclosure’ requires not only a full explanation of the divergence in interest between the lawyer and the client and an explanation about the need to seek independent legal advice, but also ‘a detailed explanation of the risks and disadvantages to the client which flow from the agreement’” (p. 193)

· Basically, the lawyer needs to tell the client what an independent lawyer would tell the client.

Application of Rule 1.8(a)

· Deals with clients as in Neville

· Midstream fee agreements?  
· It is problematic if the fee is not agreed upon initially or is not in writing.

· Loans to or from clients- Don’t do it!
· Investment in a client’s business
· Listed companies- buying stock in limited amounts is not usually problematic.
· “My Chase account”- having an account with Chase back is not a problem.
· Security interest in client property (e.g. to secure a fee)

· Lawyer’s undisclosed interest in a client deal

· Lawyer Lake and Professor Hager

· Real estate broker; estate agreed to try to sell property.  The court said there was an inherent conflict bc the lawyer took exclusive agent authority (this can be a disincentive to sell); an exclusive is not necessarily conducive to a rapid sale.

· Interests that affect judgment

· Prof. Hager is representing a putative class; the named reps were health reps who wanted to force shampoo to put disclosures on packaging.  Hager negotiated a side fee and client didn’t know.  This was an interest in seeing the settlement go down.  The clients should be able to factor Hager’s interest in deciding whether to accept the settlement.

· “My client is smarter than I am” is not a defense.
“May the Lawyer Be Our Client?” (p. 190)

Facts:

· Jen is an IP lawyer.  Rich Bellow represents an opposing client in a litigation.

· Rich’s firm got sued for malpractice and hires Jen’s partner Nola to defend them.
· Rich was not involved in the malpractice.

· Jen:  “Do we have a conflict bc Rich’s firm is our client while Rich is my adversary?”

· Is either firm representing two clients that are “directly adverse”?
· No, according to Rule 1.7(a)(1).

· Does Jen’s firm (the only one with two clients) have inconsistent responsibilities to them as defined in Rule 1.7(a)(2)?:

· there is a significant risk that the representation of one or more clients will be materially limited by the lawyer’s responsibilities to another client…

· NO.  The scope of the representation of RB’s firm (defending malpractice) does not create responsibilities not to create obligations in another case.  There is no obligation not to be an opposing firm to a client, but you can’t be an opposing firm to the other firm itself as a client, that is not a client of the opposing firm.
· Focusing on RB’s firm, the scope of the retainer and nature of the responsibility do not obligate Jen’s firm to any professional duty not to be adverse to RB’s firm in its representational capacity.
· Does either firm have a conflict between its interests and the interests of its client?

· This is client interest v. lawyer interest.

· (2) there is a significant risk that the representation of one or more clients will be materially limited by… a personal interest of the lawyer.”

· RB’s firm may be a big malpractice client.  This may be ongoing income for Jen’s firm.  Jen may not want to antagonize RB’s firm by vigorously litigating the other case she has.  The clients should be able to make this decision.
· There is risk of materially limiting the lawyer’s work for the client.
Some other Current Client-Lawyer Conflict Rules:

· 1.8(d) “Prior to the conclusion of representation of a client, a lawyer shall not make or negotiate an agreement giving the lawyer literary or media rights to a portrayal or account based in substantial part on information relating to the representation.”
· 1.8(e) “A lawyer shall not provide financial assistance to a client in connection with pending or contemplated litigation, except that:

· a lawyer may advance court costs and expenses of litigation, the repayment of which may be contingent on the outcome of the matter; and 

· a lawyer representing an indigent client may pay court costs and expenses of litigation on behalf of the client.”

· 1.8(f) “A lawyer shall not accept compensation for representing a client from one other other than the client unless:

· the client gives informed consent;

· there is no interference with the lawyer’s independence of professional judgment or with the client-lawyer relationship; and

· information relating to representation of a client is protected as required by Rule 1.6.”

· 1.8(j) “A lawyer shall not have sexual relations with a client unless a consensual sexual relationship existed between them when the client-lawyer relationship commenced.”

· 1.8(k) “While lawyers are associated in a firm, a prohibition in the foregoing paragraphs (a) through (i) that applies to any one of them shall apply to all of them.”

· 1.8(e) is especially important for indigent and near indigent clients.  If П is injured and needs money, Δ has money.  Lawyer is working on contingency.  Δ knows П needs money and uses procedural rules to delay the trial.  П asks lawyer for a loan to pay the bills.  ABA and NY rules don’t allow it.  The lawyer can advance costs of litigation like testimony, etc., but no other support no matter how small.

· The original theory said it gives a lawyer an interest in a matter that might skew her judgment.  The lawyer may encourage a settlement to recoup her costs.  This is ridiculous bc these loans are likely much smaller than the other costs of the litigation.

· Some states allow humanitarian assistance.

· 2nd theory says if we allow this, lawyers will compete for choice clients by offering cash.  People will choose lawyers based on cash advances instead of on skill.

“The Client Says We Messed Up” (p. 204)

Facts:

· Betty’s firm represents Marginex on a deal

· Bill, the Marginex general counsel, tells Betty he thinks the firm messed up in its work

· Marginex is not firing the firm bc it would disrupt the deal.

· Can the firm continue to represent Marginex?

· Does it need a waiver?

· Should it do an internal investigation?

· Should it ask Gabbe and Minter to investigate? (Gabbe represents Marginex on unrelated matters).

· Is any investigation privileged?

· Versuslaw, Inc. v. Stoel, Rives, LLP (Wash. App. 2005).

“Karen Horowitz’s Dilemma” (p. 206)

· After two years working on a complex civil matter, associate Karen Horowitz is taken off the case.

· Blair Thomas, head of litigation, explains that the demographics of the county of venue reveal the population as bigoted (“rednecks”).
· Blair fears the jury’s reaction to a female Jewish lawyer could bias it against the client.

· He wouldn’t? send “an obvious Yankee WASP like me”.

· Blair thinks about gender, race, ethnicity, age, etc. when staffing cases.

· Why is this problem in a conflicts chapter?

· What about Blair’s references to the Texaco case and capital cases?

· The matter of local counsel

· What do we think of the firm’s actions?

· What do we tell Karen?

C.  Client-Client Conflicts (defense lawyer conflicts)

Cuyler v. Sullivan (p. 211)

· Dibona and Peruto represented Sullivan and two others indicted for 1st degree murder.

· The lawyers were paid by the two others.

· Sullivan was tried 1st and convicted.

· The lawyers did not call the other Δ to testify for Sullivan.

· The two other Δ were thereafter acquitted.

· Sullivan sought relief claiming ineffective assistance of counsel (6th Amendment).

· To what extent does the amendment draw on conflict doctrine and how does it apply?

· The holding in Holloway v. Arkansas

· Legal aid lawyer representing multiple clients.  Lawyer asked for separate counsel and judge didn’t really inquire.  Clients were convicted.  The court said when a lawyer brings a conflict claim, the judge has a duty to investigate and take corrective steps if necessary.

· Why Holloway does not help Sullivan.

· To show ineffectiveness based on conflict the Δ must prove that

· “an actual conflict of interest adversely affected his lawyer’s performance.”

· Compare the Strickland v. Washington test- other kinds of ineffectiveness were alleged.
· The court imposes a higher burden of showing ineffectiveness before an accused can get relief.  Δ must show there is reasonable probability that but for unprofessional errors, the result would have been different.

· In Cuyler, the proof is lower; all they have to show if an affect on the lawyer’s performance.  He did not have to show actual prejudice- that the case might have turned out differently.

· The case on remand

· Peruto explained his strategy in defending Sullivan that was a textbook example of conflict affecting his performance.

· Why Peruto did not call Δ Carchidi- Peruto didn’t call Carchidi bc of his duty to Carchidi.  That’s the conflict.
· Lawyer said that even with another lawyer, the Δ would have taken the 5th and wouldn’t have testified anyway.

· PA’s proximate cause argument
· 3rd Circuit grants the writ:

· Sullivan had only to show an effect on the lawyer’s performance.  He did not have to show “actual prejudice”- i.e., that the case might have turned out differently.

Mickens v. Taylor  (p. 217)

· Mickens was charged with killing Hall.

· Hall was then on bail on an unrelated charge.

· Saunders had been appointed to represent Hall on that charge.
· After Hall died, the same judge who relieved Saunders from representing Hall after Hall’s death then appointed Saunders days later to represent Mickens for killing Hall.

· Mickens was convicted and sentenced to death.

· Holloway distinguished (and see Campbell v. Rice p. 218)

· Scalia said Holloway doesn’t apply bc Saunders didn’t call the conflict to the attention of the judge.  Holloway was granted relief bc the lawyer representing him was a Δ in an unrelated case herself.  She may not want to antagonize the prosecutor going after her by aggressively going after that office in another case.
· But not bringing up the conflict is evidence of the conflict itself.

· Compare with Sullivan- did conflict adversely affect his performance?  

· Cuyler/Sullivan relief was not available.

· Sullivan’s holding questioned in dicta (5-4).

· Scalia said Cuyler was a current client/client conflict.  There is never a benefit from this test where the conflict is former client/current client as in Mickens.  

· It also doesn’t apply when it is a conflict between the current client and the lawyer.

· The lower courts have assumed Sullivan applies to all conflicts.

“Murder One, Murder Two” (p. 209)
· Andy Simon is hired to defend Dash (age 51) and Snyder (23) for killing Mallen in a drug turf war.

· The charge is murder one, which carries a life sentence.

· Dash is the alleged triggerman.

· Dash has 3 prior felonies; Snyder has no record.

· The Δ have a weak alibi.

· Tina Rand, the prosecutor, offers murder two (20 to life) but only if both accept (is that fair?).

· Dash: “I want to go to trial. I won’t live 20 years.”

· Snyder:  “I’ll take it if I don’t have to testify against Dash.”

· The case against Snyder is stronger than the case against Dash.

· Simon:  “I have a conflict.  Snyder better get another lawyer.”

· Rand:  “Doesn’t matter is he has 10 lawyers.  Either they both plead or they both go to trial.”

· Both are convicted of murder one.  Snyder claims ineffective assistance of counsel.

· Does this satisfy the Cuyler/Sullivan test?  YES.

· What couldn’t Simon do for Snyder?

· Persuade Snyder to testify against Dash (“you’re 23”)

· Persuade Rand to give Snyder a deal for the testimony (reminding her that her case against Dash was weaker).

· Seek a severance, which would force Rand to try the case twice anyway and might therefore make her amenable to a deal for Snyder.

· In the joint trial, emphasize Dash’s greater culpability.

· Simon should raise the conflict with the court raising a Holloway situation.  The court would likely have relieved Simon from representing one or both of these clients.
· Does that violate a duty to Dash?

Raising the conflict is not in Dash’s interest.  Snyder will get a new lawyer which may harm Dash.  Dash doesn’t have a legitimate interest in Simon going forward in a conflicted situation.

· If Snyder gets new counsel, can Simon stay with Dash?

Simon may have to cross-examine his own former client in a case where he previously represented him.  The cross would be an adverse act, so he can’t represent either.

Wheat v. US (p. 220)

Drug conspiracy charge

Δ are Wheat, Gomez-Barajas, Bravo (tried separately)
Ireale represents Gomez-Barajas and Bravo

Gomez-Barajas is acquitted on main charges.  Other charges are pending; he offers a plea.

Bravo pleads guilty to a drug count.

Days before Wheat’s trial, he seeks to hire Iredale as substitute or additional counsel.

US opposes:  Iredale is conflicted bc:

· If Gomez-Barajas’s plea is rejected and he goes to trial, Wheat might be called as a witness.

· Bravo might be a witness against Wheat and Iredale would have to cross-examine him.

· Wheat:

· I have a 6th Amendment right to counsel of choice.

· All three of us waive conflict free counsel

Court refuses to let Iredale represent Wheat.

Supreme Court (5-4)

· We defer to the discretion of the district judge who was presented with this situation days before trial.

· System is concerned with later 6th Amendment claim of ineffective counsel despite waiver.  Consent may not totally negate the ability to negate later effectiveness.
· The system has an interest in accuracy in verdicts.

Dissent:

· Conflicts remote and didn’t materialize.

· Danger of prosecutorial manipulation.

· Insufficient respect for 6th Amendment.

“Murder at the Ballgame” (p. 218)

· Shari LaGuardia is murdered at an afternoon ballgame at Reynoso Park.
· Suspicion focuses on her estranged husband, Pete, whose threats had led her to get an order of protection.

· Husband’s alibi is weak, but no evidence puts Pete at the ballpark that day.

· Circumstantial evidence implicates Potero, who is charged.

· He is represented by Hinajosa.

· Hinajosa’s partner, Pajyk, currently represents Pete on theft from vending machine charges and has represented him in past such cases.

· Prosecutor Chen moves to disqualify Hinajosa bc her firm’s representation of Pete prevents her from arguing to a jury that Pete did it, which could create reasonable doubt.

· Hinajosa:  “Blaming Pete would be as good as saying ‘look how pathetic we are.’ I have better.  Anyway, Potero will waive the conflict.”

· Chen:  “I can’t rely on the waiver. You can’t even consider a ‘Pete did it’ defense.  I don’t want to convict, then face an ineffectiveness claim.”

· Judge thinks it is unlikely he will be reversed if he disqualifies lawyer.  

· Even if disqualified, Potero would have to show prejudice.  

· But if Hinajosa is not disqualified and Potero is convicted, the habeas lawyer will have a strong conflict claim and the prosecutor may lose his conviction.

· Trial judge may think it is better off to remove her than to let her stay.

· Hinajosa can’t really get informed consent in this case; there’s lots of evidence of conflict.

“Did Officer Schwarz Get the Effective Assistance of Counsel?” (p. 219)

· Dramatis Personae:

· Abner Louima

· Justin Volpe
· Charles Schwarz
· Thomas Wiese

· Stephen Worth

· The PBA (police union)

· At his plea, Volpe cited an unnamed 2nd officer; the jury was aware of this.
· Louima and others testify that Schwarz was the 2nd officer.

· Attorney Worth had evidence to support the 2nd officer theory and that the officer was Wiese, who resembled Schwarz.

· But Worth argues to the jury that Volpe acted alone.

· With independent counsel, Schwarz waived all conflicts.

· Why argue Volpe acted alone?

· Louima had a civil claim against the PBA and its president for conspiracy arising from the stationhouse torture.
· Worth’s firm had a $10 million retainer with the PBA, terminable on 30 days notice and up for renewal shortly.  Worth didn’t want to risk the retainer.  So there was a personal interest in not antagonizing the PBA.
· The more cops involved, the worse it was for the PBA.
· Worth’s firm was not defending the civil claim.

· Schwarz’s new lawyer made an argument in the 2nd Circuit in effective counsel argument.  3-0 opinion.

D.  Prosecutors’ Conflicts
· Appearance matters
· “The appearance of justice is as important as justice.”

· Appearance of impropriety isn’t an acceptable factor, but the appearance of public figures is still important.

· Public power
· Government lawyers and judges

· Sources of rules:

· Sources of rules especially applicable to government lawyers:

· MRPC Rules 1.11, 1.12, 3.8

· Official policies

· Court decisions

· Constitutions (state and federal)
Young v. US ex rel Vuitton (p. 233)
· Important decisions that a prosecutor must make and appear to the public to make based solely on the values of the justice system:

· Whether to charge

· What to charge

· Whether to offer immunity

· Whether to bargain and what plea to accept

· What sentence to seek

· Vuitton’s counsel were appointed to prosecute the contempt citation of individuals alleged to have violated a court injunction restraining certain trademark violations.

· The Supreme Court’s reversal is based on its supervisory power- they said a private lawyer should not prosecute on behalf of the public when the lawyer represents the private party in a related matter.

· Blackmun: due process

· Scalia: Separation of powers:  judges can’t appoint prosecutors

· Court does not identify prosecutorial impropriety

· Decision is prophylactic

· Risks identified by the court are all about temptation to use prosecutorial power for private ends and the threat to the appearance of justice.

“Contributions to Justice” (p. 231)
· Extant Technologies believes it has been the victim of theft of secret technology, a crime.
· The DA lacks the financial and technical resources to look into the case.

· It asks the DA to investigate and offers to pay for experts or to provide its personnel to explain the technology and testify at trial.

· The DA has four questions:

· Any ethical reason why I cannot accept?

· There are no rules that forbid this.

· If I accept, is one choice better than the other?

· Better to accept the in-kind help than the money.  It’s closest to what victims of crime regularly do.  Victims of crime often provide info that will help in the investigation and prosecution.  The testimony could be questioned, but that is a strategic not ethical issue.

· If I accept, should I have any understanding with Extant?

· If he accepts an offer of in-kind help, no special understanding is likely required.  But if it is substantial and very valuable professional time, he may want to state that he is exercising independent judgment and can make no promises.

· Even if I can do it, should I?

· He should bc it is important to enforce law and he would not be able to do it without the help.

· The problem is loosely based on People v. Eubanks (CA 1997):

· “[T]he courts, the public and the individual Δ are entitled to rest assured that the public prosecutor’s discretionary choices will be unaffected by private interests, and will be ‘born of objective and impartial consideration of each individual case’”

· The court disqualified the DA’s office after it asked the company to pay an expert’s substantial invoice and the company did.  The court perceived a resulting sense of obligation that could skew prosecutorial decisions.  In this case, the debt was already incurred.
E.  Client-Client Conflicts (civil cases)

Fiandaca v. Cunningham (p. 239) (clients both classes)
· Equal Protection claim challenging the facilities available to female inmates.
· NHLA represents the П class.

· NHLA also represents the Garrity class, which was challenging conditions at Laconia State School.

· On the eve of trial, the state offers to use Speare College at LSS for female prisoners.

· NHLA rejects the offer and the state moves to disqualify it.

· Argument is the lawyers represent both classes and can’t make good judgment about what is the best deal for both.

· NHLA’s duties to the Fiandaca class

· NHLA’s duties to the Garrity class

· Court:

· “It is inconceivable that NHLA, or any other counsel, could have properly performed the role of ‘advocate’ for both П and the Garrity class, regardless of its good faith or high intentions.  Indeed, this is precisely the sort of situation that Rule 1.7 is designed to prevent.”

· But what remedy?

· The case had already been tried in lower court, so the higher court said they wouldn’t reverse.  

· NHLA didn’t do anything in the trial that appeared to be a conflict.

· The lower court judge refused to award the remedy of Speare Cottage.

F.  Concurrent Client Conflicts

Imputation (Rule 1.10(a):  “While lawyers are associated in a firm, none of them shall knowingly represent a client when any one of them practicing alone would be prohibited from doing so by rules 1.7 or 1.9 unless the prohibition is based on a personal interest of the prohibited lawyer and does not present a significant risk of materially limiting the representation of the client by the remaining lawyers in the firm.”
· Courts have carved out an exception for legal services and public defender offices.  These lawyers are salaried.
Unrelated adverse matters:

Calderon v. Micro Used Autos (p. 246)

· Hypo One:  Schmidt represents Calderon on other matters while his partner Mickeljohn represents Micro on other matters.  NOT A PROBLEM
· Hypo Two:  Schmidt represents Calderon against Micro while Mickeljohn represents Micro on an unrelated matter.

· You can’t use Micro’s confidential info against them.
· Rule 1.7(a) says “A concurrent conflict of interest exists if:

· the representation of one client will be directly adverse to another client (Schmidt is suing Micro for Calderon so there is a conflict); OR
· there is a significant risk that the representation of one or more clients (Calderon) will be materially limited by the lawyer’s responsibilities to another client (Micro).  
· You need consent from both clients.

· This is an increasing issue bc firms have thousands of lawyers worldwide.

· Conflict rules also impact firms’ ability to acquire laterals or to merge.

Unrelated matter conflicts:

· Should we change the rule against adverse concurrent conflicts, or at least the imputation rule?

· Who should have the burden to displace the default rule?

· Multiple client representations
· Joint clients (you represent 2 or more people on the same matter):

· Duty to inform v. confidentiality- you inform both clients of info in that matter.  The duty to inform supersedes any confidentiality of the claim (put it in writing).  Confidentiality applies to the rest of the world, but not to the joint client.
· Privilege issues- joint clients have to know that the privilege does not apply between co-clients if there is a subsequent dispute between them.  Privilege applies to the rest of the world, but not to each other inter se.
· Two lawyers, two clients (2 or more lawyers represent 2 or more people, but they have substantially the same interest in the matter)
· Joint Defense Privilege (so-called)- protects conversations between multiple Δ and their lawyer regarding the matter which they had a common interest.  The court says this is just avoiding the loss of privilege
· Today called common interest rule instead of joint defense privilege.

· Defense only
· Litigation only?

· Some courts say this can apply in transactional matters as well, but applying in transactions will make it apply broadly.  To apply in transactions, there have to be common legal issues that are identical or nearly identical.  Some courts say litigation or impending litigation only.

· Is it really a privilege?

· Degree of identity of interests required

· Duties of Lawyer A to Client B

· 9th Circuit said Lawyer A develops a relationship with Client B. This makes no sense bc there could be a conflict of interest if the interests of clients starts to diverge.  Most courts say there is some duty to Client B, but not like attorney-client relationship.

· To address this, you can make a common interest agreement that states what everyone’s interests are.

· If both lawyers leave, there is no privilege left in the clients.

· Appealability of Disqualification Orders

· Supreme Court said there were no appeals as of right on decisions on disqualification motions.

· You can appeal by permission or mandamus.  Mandamus is very hard to review.

“Will You Represent Us Both?” (p. 238)

· Can Sheila’s public interest office represent Bill and Miguel, who believe that the promotion policies of their employer, Beware Industries, discriminate and that as a result a white person with less seniority got a supervisor’s job each wanted?

· Questions to ask:

· What are Bill and Miguel’s common interests?

· Do any of their interests differ?

· Is it possible to structure Sheila’s work to avoid conflicts?  What are the considerations?

· Rule 1.2(c)

· What consents are needed?

· Rule 1.2(c) “A lawyer may limit the scope of the representation if the limitation is reasonable under the circumstances and the client gives informed consent.”
· Comment 7:  “Although this Rule affords the lawyer and client substantial latitude to limit the representation, the limitation must be reasonable under the circumstances… Although an agreement for a limited representation does not exempt a lawyer from the duty to provide competent representation, the limitation is a factor to be considered when determining the legal knowledge, skill, thoroughness, and preparation reasonably necessary for the representation.  See Rule 1.1.”

· S could negotiate settlements for both as long as non-settlement is premised on the assumption that one and not the other would get the job.  She has to ensure the remedies she is seeking for them are acceptable to both of them.
Simpson v. James (p. 255)

· Simpson and the Joneses sold their catfish restaurant to Tide Creek.
· Buyers and sellers were represented by Ed Oliver, who had long represented the restaurants when run by Simpson’s late husband.

· Oliver got the buyer’s personal guarantees on a note, a lien on the stock of Tide Creek, and restrictions on the operation of the business (good things that a seller would want).

· He didn’t get a lien on the inventory or any interest on insurance proceeds.

· Tide Creek had an insurance loss and David James of Oliver’s (now former) firm helped it collect $200K in insurance.

· Tide Creek defaulted on a $200K note, Simpson consulted James about her options.

· Tide Creek then declared bankruptcy.  Simpson’s note is worthless.

· Simpson sues James and his firm.  What is her theory of liability?

· Malpractice, negligence

· What did Oliver and James do wrong and what does the alleged conflict have to do with it?

· Either the lawyers were guilty of malpractice (negligence) or they weren’t.

· Theory:  the conflict enabled П’s lawyers to explain to the jury why the Δ failed to get better protection.  In effect, it shifted the burden of proof to Δ to show that an unconflicted lawyer would have fared no better.

· П’ lawyers love conflicts.  Why?

· Is it bc of burden shifting?

· James’s defense:  I did not represent Simpson on the note.  Not plausible.

· Could the law firm have gotten informed consent for the multiple representations?

· Generally not a good idea unless the client interests are strongly aligned, not so here.

· Informed consent requires information and the amount of information depends on the client’s sophistication.

· The value of independent counsel.

“What Kind of Consent?” (p. 259) GO THROUGH THIS IN BOOK!
· Using the same lawyer, three clients want to start a partnership that will run children’s parties:

· The magician is putting up the money.

· The baker has the client contacts

· The puppeteer will manage the business.

· Are there any conflicts?

· Can consent cure them?

· Should it be written?

· The need to monitor the situation.

· What should the consent say?  A few points:

· No privilege for disputes between conflicts.

· No confidentially between clients.

· Cannot resolve issues or advocate positions where client interests differ

· May not be able to represent anyone in the event of a dispute among the principals.

· Identify issues on which their interests differ and which they have to resolve.

G.  Advance Consents

· Is it possible to have informed consent to a conflict that has not yet arisen, whose details cannot be foreseen, and which may never arise? YES.

Rule 1.7 comment 22

Restatement § 122 comment d

Considerations:  sophistication of client, independent counsel, informed to the risks.

The Insurance Triangle (p. 264)

Public Service Mutual Ins. Co. v. Goldfarb (p. 265):

· PSMI seeks declaratory judgment that it does not have to defend Goldfarb in Schwartz v. Goldfarb.  Goldfarb is a dentist and Schwartz was his patient.

· In her suit, Schwartz charges Goldfarb with

· Intentional acts causing unintentional harm

· Intentional acts causing intended harm

· Compensatory and punitive damages for both.

· For the same alleged conduct, Goldfarb has already been professionally disciplined and convicted of 3rd degree sexual abuse of Schwartz.

· PSMI said the nature of the relief they don’t have to cover it.  They wanted a declaration that they don’t have to defend or indemnify him.  They said they did not agree to insure Goldfarb against the kind of things he was accused of.

Questions for the court:

· Does PSMI have to pay defense counsel?

· Yes bc the policy covers at least some of Schwartz’s claims- the intentional wrongdoing causing unintentional harm was within the language of the policy and was the kind of event that NY law permitted someone to insure against, but not? for Schwartz to collect punitive damages or for collecting for intentional acts that caused intentional harm.
· The duty to defend is broader than the duty to indemnify

· The conflicts problem arises when facts found by the court may (or may not) result in no coverage because of public policy or the contract language.

· So the insurer and the insured have different goals in Schwartz v. Goldfarb.

· What should the law be?

· Goldfarb is entitled to independent counsel and gets to pick who it is.

· The insurer must be allowed to participate in Schwartz v. Goldfarb through its own lawyer (if it is to be bound by the verdict).  If not, it must have a right to prove intentional harm and no obligation to indemnify.
· What should be the strategy of the lawyer for Schwartz, Goldfarb, and PSMI?

· Goldfarb and Schwartz may have similar goals if he has no assets bc then the insurance company pays.

“The Insurer Would Want to Know” (p. 264)

· POM hires Brett Welcome to defend its insured, RIO, a law firm, and Meredith Tipton, a partner, in a malpractice action against the firm brought by Spindlecraft, a former client.

· The charge is negligence and the claim is $10 million, which is within the policy.  The complaint does not charge intentional wrongdoing or seek punitive damages, nether of which are within the policy.  So far no problem at all.

· Welcome learns that Tipton may be guilty of worse conduct- intentionally undermining the client’s objective.

· Intentional wrongdoing is not concerned and punitive damages might be asserted and would not be covered.

· What should Welcome and her firm do?

· Tell RIO and Tipton what Welcome learned and get their side of it.

· What if Welcome’s information comes from Tipton, who insists on confidentiality?

· She has to share it with Tipton and the firm.

· Can Welcome continue joint representation?

· She may be able to continue joint representation; it depends on what RIO wants to do.

· Can Welcome tell POM?  Is POM a client?

· The majority view is that POM is not a client.  They are paying for the representation for the client, but are not a client themselves.

· If POM is not a client, Welcome has no client based duty to POM.  She can continue to defend the claim and urge POM to settle.

· There may be non-legal duties contained in the contract?
· Is she forbidden to tell POM?

· If RIO and Tipton agree, can Welcome continue to defend the negligence claim and even urge POM to settle without revealing what she knows?

H.  Successive Conflicts of Interest- Duty to Former Clients
Rule 1.9(a):  A lawyer who has formerly represented a client in a matter shall not thereafter represent another person in the same or a substantially related matter in which that person’s interests are materially adverse to the interests of the former client unless the former client gives informed consent, confirmed in writing.

Rule 1.9(b):  A lawyer shall not knowingly represent a person in the same or a substantially related matter in which a firm with which the lawyer formerly was associated had previously represented a client

· whose interests are materially adverse to that person; and
· about whom the lawyer had acquired information protected by Rules 1.6 and 1.9(c) that is material to the matter; 

· unless the former client gives informed consent, confirmed in writing.

Analytica v. NPD Research (p. 276)

· NPD wants to give stock to a loyal employee Malec in a tax advantageous way and tells him to get counsel.  He hires S&F.

· NPD provides S&F with its financial data to aid its work.

· Later, no longer loyal Malec leaves NPD, forms Analytica, retains S&F, and sues NPD for antitrust violations.

· NPD moves to disqualify S&F under the “substantial relationship” test.

· Motion is granted:  Court says the test is satisfied “if the lawyer could have obtained confidential information in the first representation that would have been relevant in the second. It is irrelevant whether he actually obtained such information…

· But how can we know?

· The use of a proxy may create false negatives and false positives (substantial relationship test).  The Decora (p. 280) half solution.

· The judge looks at the proxy and asks if a prudent lawyer can be expected to acquire the kind of info that would be helpful to a lawyer in the second matter, now opposing the former client.  If yes, the test is satisfied.

· A judge can’t go through the file to see if it actually happened bc it would take too long, so we take the risks of false positives and false negatives.

· S&F says NPD was never a client.  Posner said they probably were, but it doesn’t matter if they weren’t for conflict purposes.
· The test also envisions a continuing loyalty duty to former clients.

I.  Disqualification as a Remedy
A quote for every purpose:

· Because of the interest in counsel of choice the party moving for disqualification “bears a heavy burden” of proving a conflict.

OR

· To preserve public confidence, the court will “resolve all doubts in favor of disqualification”.

“Do I Still Owe the Record Store” (p. 281)

What is a substantial relationship anyway?

· Lopez helps Wallace open a record store, including negotiating a lease and credit arrangements and registering a trade name.  The lease says Wallace can sell only “records, CDs, tapes and related products”.  Six months later…

· The landlord says Wallace is in breach bc he’s selling DVD’s videotapes, musical instruments.  Can Lopez represent the landlord?

· No, the matters are substantially related.

· Six months later…

· A community group wants Lopez to help it persuade the city to change the bus route, which will reduce pedestrian traffic in front of Wallace’s store.  May she?

· Yes, she has no duty to help his economic progress.  There may be a time when the answer is no if she investigated the likelihood that the bus route would or would not be changed.

· Eloise Case wants to open a competing record store across the street.  May Lopez represent her?

· L should be able to represent her, although sometimes it will be an economic conflict to represent her. See Rule 1.7 comment 6.

Rule 1.7 comment 6 “[S]imultaneous representation in unrelated matters of clients whose interests are only economically adverse, such as representation of competing economic interests in unrelated litigation, does not ordinarily constitute a conflict of interest…”

· But see Maritrans p. 280.  What should the rule be?
J.  Successive Conflicts of Conflict
Hot Potato Rule- Why do we have it?

· Conflicts rules are less protective of former clients than they are of current ones, particularly with regard to loyalty duties.
· Confidentiality duties are the same:  absent exception both revelation and adverse use are prohibited.
· But loyalty obligations differ

· Current client:  acting adversely to current client is forbidden on any matter, even if unrelated to work for the client.

· Former client:  lawyer is forbidden to act adversely to former client on substantially related matters.

· This rule mainly protects both confidences and loyalty.

· Rule 1.9(a) does not have the word “confidences”.

· The lawyer is freer to take on a matter if another client is a former client and not a current client.  This may create temptation to construe a client as former or even to withdraw from a matter to convert the client to a former client.

· The “hot potato” rule, coined by USDJ Ann Aldrich, says a lawyer cannot fire a client (drop it “like a hot potato”) to enjoy the greater freedom of the former client conflict rules.

· Why not let the lawyer drop the client if changing lawyers does not hurt the client?

· Clients have legitimate interest in continuity of service to conclusion of the retainer (scope of work!)

· The rule applies when the firm drops the client for economic reasons (to get a more lucrative client or matter; to effect a firm merger as in Picker v. Varian (p. 287)).

· The rule doesn’t seem to apply when a lawyer changes or takes a different job in, say, government, but why not?

Thrust Upon Conflicts:

· The conflict arises bc someone else does something, e.g. a client M&A that “thrusts” a conflict “upon” the firm through no fault of its own.

· There is a conflict that you didn’t bring on; firm has to get out and can’t get consent.

· If the firm drops one client to end the conflict, will it then violate the hot potato rule?  The firm has to decide quickly who it will drop.
· Baker’s strategy in Installation (p. 288).

· Baker represented A against B.  Baker’s client C acquired B and told Baker they had to get out bc of a conflict.  A said they wouldn’t let them out, and said they would waive conflict.  C said they wouldn’t waive conflict, and they had to get out.

· Baker went to the judge and moved to withdraw form A to create an issue for the judge to decide.  But the judge also had an interest in not delaying his case.  He said they couldn’t withdraw, but that he wasn’t requiring them to withdraw from C.  If C didn’t like it, C could withdraw themselves. 

· This insulated Baker from civil liability and ethical violations.

“You Don’t Know Anything” (p. 275)

· Lakoff was an associate at PRSM, where he worked on two age (but no sex) discrimination cases for AxiMartin.

· He moves to CCC.

· A year later Cudlup asks him to work on a sex discrimination case for Stile against AxiMartin.

· AxiMartin hired Stile after Lakoff left PRSM, so he couldn’t have worked on it when he was at PRSM.
· The firm could be disqualified from the matter if he is not supposed to be working.

· When Lakoff mentions his age cases, Cudlup says they have nothing to do with Stile.

· Are the matters within Rule 1.9?

· The claims differ but so did the former and later work in Analytica.  Age is not sex, but as in Analytica, tax is not antitrust.
· What does Lakoff presumably know?

· Details about employment policies and salary structure; this is proprietary info common to both matters.  
· This makes matters substantially related and Lakoff would likely be excluded.

· Details about settlement strategies (rarely successful; cases are fact specific and there are rarely hard and fast settlement strategies).

· Information useful in discovery (how the files are organized) - least persuasive.
· Is any of this enough to disqualify Lakoff?

· Settlement strategies and discovery info probably would not exclude Lakoff.

· If so, is CCC also disqualified?

· If we conclude that the sex discrimination case is substantially related to the two age discrimination cases, can CCC effect a timely screen and take Stile as a client?

· It depends on the rule in the court where each case is filed.  Choice of rule rule 8.5(b).
Rule 1.9 comment 3:  Matters are “substantially related” for purposes of this Rule if they involve the same transaction or legal dispute or if there otherwise is a substantial risk that confidential factual information as would normally have been obtained in the prior representation would materially advance the client’s position in the subsequent matter.  For example, a lawyer who has represented a businessperson and learned extensive private financial information about that person may not then represent that person’s spouse in seeking a divorce.

· In the case of an organizational client, general knowledge of the client’s policies and practices ordinarily will not preclude a subsequent representation; on the other hand, knowledge of specific facts gained in a prior representation that are relevant to the matter in question ordinarily will preclude such a representation.
Cromley v. Board of Education (p. 294)
Imputation of lateral lawyer conflicts- are conflicts from a former firm imputed to a new firm?

· The players:

Cromley, is represented by

Weiner, of the 

Schwartz and Freeman firm

After 2 years of litigation, Weiner moves to the 

Scariano law firm, which represents

Δ Board of Education

· Cromley seeks to disqualify Scariano
· The matter is the “same”

· It is presumed that Weiner has relevant confidences so W clearly can’t represent the Board.
· The presumption is rebuttable but it certainly can’t be rebutted here

· So Weiner cannot represent the Board

· But can the Scariano firm…

· If Weiner is screened?

· The firm erected screening mechanisms before W arrived that were sufficient to protect C’s interests.

· An aside:

· How could Weiner have negotiated with Scariano even while representing Cromley, without telling her? p. 297

· There was a duty to consult with her and get her consent if a conflict arose.

· Isn’t he dropping her like a hot potato to further his economic interests?

· Why is the court out to lunch on these issues?
K.  Of Presumptions and Screening

· The rules and the courts handle the lateral lawyer issue with the aid of presumptions
· It is presumed that the lateral lawyer has confidential info from all matters handled by her former firm.  But that’s counterintuitive for firms of even modest size.

· So the presumption is rebuttable.  The presumption is a way of assigning the burden of proof to the lawyer, who’s in the best position to know the facts.

· It forces the lawyer to persuade the court that he doesn’t have confidential info of the particular client whose matter is at issue in this situation.  The lawyer has access to the info and has access to the info that the court needs to decide the issue.

· Makes sense given the size of many firms (Silver Chrysler p. 299)

· 2nd Circuit said in the modern age it is ridiculous to assume every lawyer has info about every client, particularly associates.  The lawyer has an opportunity to show there is no confidential info.  He then sheds the imputed conflict he has while he was there at the firm (one lawyer).
· How do you rebut?

· You can show you don’t have relevant confidential info by signing an affidavit stating the kinds of matters worked on and other things that show you were not at all related to that matter.  The other side has a chance to rebut with evidence.

· Evidence of non-access

· If the presumption of shared confidence is not rebutted…

· Most jurisdictions don’t allow screening when lawyers move from private practice to private practice.

· A majority of jurisdictions and the Model Rules (via Rule 1.10(a) imputation) conclusively presume that the lateral lawyers will share confidential info with her new colleagues.

· A substantial and growing minority of jurisdictions permit the new firm to rebut the second presumption by screening the lateral lawyer immediately on arrival (you cannot wait until a few weeks later to do the screen).

What’s a screen made of?

· The in-between crowd (NY included): Is the lateral’s info “unlikely to be significant or material”?

· Do judges live in the real world? This rule is very hard to apply.  Sharing what info he knows to determine if material would violate confidentiality.  The associate may not know the whole matter so he can’t make the determination.
· NY doesn’t by code allow screening.

Whose Rules Apply?

· Rule 8.5(b) (the choice of rule rule):

Choice of Law.  In any exercise of the disciplinary authority of this jurisdiction, the rules of professional conduct to be applied shall be as follows:

(1) for conduct in connection with a matter pending before a tribunal, the rules of the jurisdiction in which the tribunal sits, unless the rules of the tribunal provide otherwise; and
(2) for any other conduct, the rules of the jurisdiction in which the lawyer’s conduct occurred, or, if the predominant effect of the conduct is in a different jurisdiction, the rules of that jurisdiction shall be applied to the conduct.  A lawyer shall not be subject to discipline if the lawyer’s conduct conforms to the rules of a jurisdiction in which the lawyer reasonably believes the predominant effect of the lawyer’s conduct will occur.
“Can We Hire the Guy?” (p. 292)

· KGR handles product liability defense work for Admiral.

· There are about 3 dozen cases nationally.  KGR retains local counsel where it has no office.

· Stuart Monk had been working at an Indiana firm but sought to move to KGR’s Chicago office when his wife got a medical residency there.

· KGR does a conflicts check

· A conflict check is essential to see if there is a conflict and if it is imputed and if they need to do a screen.

· KGR is defending two cases against Monk’s present firm:  Crickett and Bindloo, pending in different courts.

· Each case alleges injuries from Admiral toaster ovens

· Monk tells KGR he worked on Crickett but not Bindloo.

· The Indiana firm is part of an informal consortium of firms representing П suing Admiral for toaster oven claims.  They share info and strategies.

· Monk has never participated in consortium activities.

· Can KGR hire Monk?

· Can Monk work on the other side in Crickett or Bindloo?  Does it matter that he did no work on Bindloo while at the Indiana firm?

· Monk can’t work on the other side of Crickett bc he’s personally disqualified.  He has confidential info on Crickett.

· Monk could still have confidential info about Bindloo from working on a similar matter, so it’s a judgment on level of risk adversity.

· If Monk cannot work on these cases, can KGR screen him?

· If KGR is even a little risk averse, they will screen Monk from both cases if it’s allowed.

· Even if the firm thinks it’s okay, the client may not agree.

· What about the fact that the cases are in different courts?

· Does the existence of the consortium create problems?

· Monk may have been privy to consortium info even if he didn’t go to the meetings.

· Monk may bring conflicts in all of the toaster cases of companies that participated in the consortium.

· KGR may not want to hire him unless they get consents.

L.  Former Government Lawyers
· Do the successive conflict and imputation rules differ when a lawyer leaves government service?

· Every jurisdiction created a special rule for government to private situation, 1.11, which trumps 1.9(a) and (b) and 1.10(a).
Armstrong v. McAlpin (p. 306)

· Following an SEC investigation, Armstrong is named receiver of Capital Growth, which McAlpin allegedly looted.

· His charge:  Get back as much money as you can.

· Armstrong hires the Gordon firm as counsel although Altman, a former SEC lawyer who worked on the Capital Growth investigation, was recently hired by Gordon.

· Altman is screened from any work on the matter.

· An aside:  the appealability issue- district judge’s decision is not appealable.
· Is the Gordon firm tainted by Altman’s conflict?

· Is Altman himself conflicted?

· Confidentiality concerns, but Armstrong already has the SEC files.

· Was it all right for the SEC to share these?

· Yes, Armstrong is an agent of the SEC’s mandate appointed by the court.

· What other policy supports excluding Altman?

· We don’t want government lawyers determining their office’s agenda with an eye on post-departure careers and what will make them valuable in the marketplace.
· If Altman is conflicted, can he be screened?

General Motors v. NYC (p. 309)

· While at Antitrust, Reycraft investigated monopolization practices in GM buses.

· On his return to private practice (Chadbourne) NYC retains Reycraft to sue GM for monopolistic conduct in buses.

· GM moves to disqualify Reycraft

· NYC:  He hasn’t switched sides; he’s still representing government in connection with the same conduct, but a different government.

· Court:

· Two dangers:

· Government lawyer agenda setting for self-advancement
· While in government, Reycraft had access to GM info.  He can now exploit that info for a private client in his private practice.
· How is Armstrong different from GM?

· No threat to info bc Armstrong already had the SEC files so he knew what Altman knew.

· Altman screened.  Screening was not a solution in GM bc the city wanted Reycraft himself and not the firm.
Model Rule 1.11

· Introduces and defines “confidential government information” (CGI) concept.

· Permits post-departure work on the same “matter” with agency informed written consent unless

· The lawyer has CGI about a person that could be used to its material disadvantage.

· If a lawyer has CGI or can’t get consent when permitted, firm can screen with no need for government consent to screening.

Model Rule 1.11

(a) Except as law may otherwise expressly permit, a lawyer who has formerly served as a public officer or employee of the government:

(1) is subject to Rule 1.9(c); and

(2) shall not otherwise represent a client in connection with a matter in which the lawyer participated personally and substantially as a public officer or employee, unless the appropriate government agency gives its informed consent, confirmed in writing, to the representation.
(b) When a lawyer is disqualified from representation under paragraph (a), no lawyer in a firm with which that lawyer is associated may knowingly undertake or continue representation in such a matter unless:

(1) the disqualified lawyer is timely screened from any participation in the matter and is apportioned no part of the fee therefrom; and

(2) written notice is promptly given to the appropriate government agency to enable it to ascertain compliance with the provisions of this rule.

(c) Except as law may otherwise expressly permit, a lawyer having info that the lawyer knows is confidential government info about a person acquired when the lawyer was a public officer or employee, may not represent a private client whose interests are adverse to that person in a matter in which the info could be used to the materials disadvantage of that person.
· As used in this Rule, the term “confidential government info” means info that has been obtained under governmental authority and which, at the time this Rule is applied, the government is prohibited by law from disclosing to the public or has a legal privilege not to disclose and which is not otherwise available to the public.  A firm with which that lawyer is associated may undertake or continue representation in the matter only if the disqualified lawyer is timely screened from any participation in the matter and is apportioned no part of the fee therefrom.

· How would GM be decided under Rule 1.11?

· The same way bc Reycraft has CGI about GM; the government can’t waive GM’s interest.  He could be screened (but NYC wanted Reycraft).

· How would Armstrong be decided under Rule 1.11?

· Since CGI was not an issue (Armstrong had the SEC files), the SEC could have agreed to let Altman work on the matter.  If it did not, he could be screened.

“Investigating Landlords” (p. 304)

· City Council hires Cynthia Ho to investigate abuses by landlords and propose legislation.

· Using subpoena power, she does that.

· After the legislation passes (providing for treble damages for certain violations), Ho leaves her job and joins a firm.

· Can she represent landlords or tenants in claims arising under the law she drafted?

· Representing landlords under the law:

· There should be no CGI problem with landlords.  She is not suing that info adversely to the landlord.
· She is handling a case arising under the statute she drafted for the city.  Does Ho need agency permission under Rule 1.11(a)(2) which says she

· shall not otherwise represent a client in connection with a matter in which the lawyer participated personally and substantially as a public officer or employee, unless the appropriate government agency gives its informed consent, confirmed in writing, to the representation.

· “Matter” as defined in Rule 1.11(e) includes “any judicial or other proceeding, application, request for a ruling or other determination, contract, claim, controversy, investigation, charge, accusation, arrest or other particular matter involving a specific party or parties.”
· Comment 10 says:  “a ‘matter’ may continue in another form.  In determining whether two particular matters are the same, the lawyer should consider the extent to which the matters involve the same basic facts, the same or related parties, and the time elapsed.”

· Is the case Tenant v. Landlord the same matter as the investigation:

· Did Ho investigate this landlord on the factual allegations in the case in which she now wants to represent it?  

· If so, she cannot take the case.

· If Ho cannot take the case, her firm can do it.
· If the landlord was not part of her investigation or she did not investigate the same kind of conduct, it is not the same matter.

· Representing tenants under the law:

· There could be a CGI problems depending on the identity of the landlords and what Ho learned about it while a government lawyer.

· If so, the agency cannot waive but Ho can be screened.

· Even if there is no CGI problem, does Ho need consent to represent a tenant?

· No, this is not the investigation she did for the city which was an investigation of landlords generally.

· Is the litigation Tenant v. Landlord the same “matter” as Ho’s investigation of landlords generally?

· In representing a landlord, when permitted without permission, can Ho

· Argue for a narrow construction of the law she helped write?

· Can she argue that it violates the city charter?

· Oddly enough, perhaps the answer is ‘yes’ to both questions bc the term “matter” is not defined to cover drafting.

· Textually, she can.  This is not like the record store bc she is not undoing the previous work.

IV INTRODUCTION TO THE ADVERSARY SYSTEM

· The perjurious client- rarely arises, but is debated a lot.
· Rifkind v. Frankel

· Robert Post: The Lawyer as a Performance Artist

· What is the purpose of a trial?

· To resolve disputes, in accord with the whole truth if possible, but the law does not privilege truth about all other values, as Judge Rifkind explains.

· “I must say that, as a litigant, I should dread a lawsuit beyond almost anything short of sickness and death.”- Learned Hand, The Deficiencies of Trials to Reach the Heart of the Matter

“Which System is Better” (p. 330)

· Writing on a clean slate, a new nation is considering either the US modified adversary civil dispute system or a cooperative system which is nearly the same but obligates all lawyers to share all factual and legal information, although it would retain the attorney-client privilege.

· Which should the new nation choose and why?

Clients will not tell lawyers everything in such a system.  Discovery is our attempt at a cooperative system.  The privilege still remains.

Lawyers will not do serious investigations due to fear that they will uncover things they have to turn over.  But they may also fail to discover things that will benefit their clients.

Lawyers will violate the rule. They won’t share even if they’re supposed to under the coop system rules.

Current system respects the autonomy of the litigant.

· Are lawyers the best group to ask this question?

· We have an interest in disputes

· Addressing disputes is part of our inventory for which we are richly paid.

Nix v. Whiteside (p. 340)

· What may or must a lawyer do when her client (a) wishes to testify falsely or (b) has testified falsely as the lawyer later learns?

· The criminal Δ as the test case

· The only party who has a constitutional right to testify.
· Issues arise in two ways:

· What is the right ethical rule to adopt?

· What does the constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel require of lawyers?

· The constitution sets the floor.  Ethics rules can vary but cannot require conduct that would render a lawyer constitutionally ineffective.
· What is the right ethical rule, but what will the constitution tolerate?

· Facts:

· We assume that Robinson, Whiteside’s lawyer, knew Whiteside would like (I saw something metallic).

· A BIG and convenient assumption.

· Robinson says: “If you do that, I’ll tell the court you’re committing perjury.”

· Whiteside relents and testifies only that he “knew” the victim had a gun.

· He is convicted of murder.

· Whiteside seeks federal habeas, claiming constitutionally ineffective counsel.

· Court applies Strickland v. Washington, which requires Whiteside to show

(a) That counsel’s conduct was constitutionally deficient (failure to comply with “reasonable professional standards”); and

(b) Prejudice in the sense that deficient performance undermines confidence in the verdict.

· 8th Circuit said lawyer was ineffective.  

· The Supreme Court rejects claims of both (a) and (b) (5-4 case).

· Court says the performance was ethical and reasonable, not ineffective.

· The authority the Iowa rule gave Robinson did not render the lawyer constitutionally ineffective.

· As for prejudice, the Court says Whiteside had no right to commit perjury so the inability to do so cannot be prejudicial.

· Concurrence:  We don’t have to and it’s not our place to decide what should or should not be ethically permitted or required.  The absence of prejudice to Whiteside disposes of the case without the need to evaluate the Iowa ethics rule.

· They say the case can be decided on the prejudice issue only; there is no prejudice so relief should be denied.  The rest of the majority’s opinion is dicta.

· But the case can also be decided on the performance issue only.  Technically either conclusion can be dicta.  It’s probably best to consider neither dicta.

Model Rule 3.3

Look at 5 questions to ask in walking through this issue?
· Should be read in conjunction with 1.6 exceptions.

· The only remedy thought about has been withdrawal.  There can be other remedies, so disclosure is most appropriate especially in the middle of a trial.  Rule says “shall” so it is obligatory.
(a) A lawyer shall not knowingly…

(3) offer evidence that the lawyer knows to be false.  If a lawyer, the lawyer’s client, or a witness called by the lawyer, has offered material evidence and the lawyer comes to know of its falsity, the lawyer shall take reasonable remedial measures, including, if necessary, disclosure to the tribunal…

· A lawyer can’t call a witness to testify if he knows the witness will falsely testify.  But what is material?

(c) The duties stated in paragraphs (a) and (b) continue to the conclusion of the proceeding, and apply even if compliance requires disclosure of information otherwise protected by Rule 1.6.

· Fewer than 15 jurisdictions have come to the conclusion in 3.3(c).
Open Supreme Court questions:

· In Nix, the perjury was prospective.  The perjury was not concluded.  The Supreme Court has not yet had to apply Strickland standards where a lawyer learns of concluded perjury and, following Rule 3.3, reveals it to the court.

· 3.3 doesn’t distinguish between prospective and concluded perjury.  The lawyer would have to tell the court in either case.

· Would that violate Δ’s rights, or effective assistance of counsel? 

· Most courts have held that it is not a problem.

· Does it depend on how the lawyer learns of the perjury- from the client or otherwise?

· It might be different if the lawyer learns of the perjury from the client bc the client has used the lawyer (albeit unwittingly) to commit the crime.  Under 1.6(b) lawyers are allowed but not required to reveal confidential info if the lawyer is an unwitting instrument in a fraud against a person.  Why can’t this be required where the victim of the fraud is the justice system?

· Surprise perjury- the lawyer is surprised by the perjurious answer when the client is on the stand.

After Nix, What?

· We know that Iowa’s ethical rule did not result in ineffective assistance.  But neither Nix nor Iowa are constitutionally required rules.  States can adopt other ethical rules.

· Parameters for this discussion:

· Focus solely on the criminal Δ.

· Perjury can be prospective, surprise, or concluded

· The lawyer’s state of mind:  knowledge
Possible responses:

1. Permit the lawyer to elicit perjury and argue it in summation if the client cannot be dissuaded and the court won’t let the lawyer withdraw (a pro Δ argument).

· Monroe Freedman’s “trilemma” (p. 359)- a lawyer faced with this trilemma should proceed in this usual fashion if the lawyer can’t withdraw.  You’re not helping the client lie; you’re giving the minimal help necessary.  A DC Court of Appeals judge (Warren Burger) referred him to the disciplinary committee saying he violated the DC Code of Professional Responsibility.
The trilemma:

1. You can’t maintain a state of ignorance.  You have to learn everything you can to help the client.

2. In order to help you do this, info you learn from the client is privileged and confidential.

3. Lawyer has duty to be candid with the court and not pervert the processes.  Freedman says you can’t do all three.  If you’re going to honor confidentiality and try to do all you can, then the candor to the court has to be compromised.  If not, lawyers will dilute one of the other rules.

· This solution has not been accepted by any court.

2. If prospective perjury (as in Nix), don’t call the client to testify.  
· This satisfies candor to the court.

· While a criminal accused has a constitutional right to testify, she has no right to commit perjury (Nix).

3. If surprise Perjury (i.e. while questioning), stop questioning on the topic and don’t argue the testimony in summation.

4. If concluded perjury, don’t argue the testimony in summation.

· This may be a signal to the jury and prompt them not to believe it.  

5. For either 3 or 4, also reveal perjury to the court as Rule 3.3 envisions if other remedies are ineffective.

6. The narrative solution to prospective perjury:

· Let the Δ testify in narrative formation without asking questions that don’t elicit testimony thereby assisting perjury, and don’t argue the testimony in summation.

· Does this compromise make any sense?  Isn’t it easier not to call the client at all?
All solutions assume the lawyer knows the client will lie or has lied.  (What if he only strongly believes the client will lie or has lied?)
Do lawyers, fact skeptics par excellence, ever “know” anything?

What if the Δ challenges the lawyer’s claim of knowledge?  
The client can tell the lawyer he is weakening his case.  

What should the judge do if the client tells the judge the lawyer won’t let him testify and the lawyer says it’s bc the client will lie?
Are we encouraging intentional ignorance or manipulation?

“What will the prosecutor say you did?”

“Before you tell me the facts, let me tell you the law.”

The “Anatomy of a Murder” lecture (p. 253)

Should clients get “Miranda” warnings from their own lawyers to avoid giving the lawyer knowledge the client later regrets?

“Carl’s Story” (p. 335)

Tanya is assigned to represent Carl in a murder case where the defense is insanity

Each side has a psychiatrist.  Carl told each one the same story about his horrible childhood.

Each doctor testified (reaching different conclusions) and each considered and recounted Carl’s childhood information to the jury.

With the evidence still open, Tanya gets a visit from a woman claiming to be Carl’s sister.

She has family photos and details of Carl’s life.

She says none of the stuff Carl told the doctors is true.

What should we tell Tanya to do?

We are trying to protect her from retribution from the court and allegations of ineffective counsel from Carl.

Model Rule 3.3

(a) A lawyer shall not knowingly…

(3) offer evidence that the lawyer knows to be false.  If a lawyer, the lawyer’s client, or a witness called by the lawyer, has offered material evidence and the lawyer comes to know of its falsity, the lawyer shall take reasonable remedial measures, including, if necessary, disclosure to the tribunal…

(b) A lawyer who represents a client in an adjudicative proceeding and who knows that a person intends to engage, is engaging or has engaged in criminal or fraudulent conduct related to the proceeding shall take reasonable remedial measures, including, if necessary, disclosure to the tribunal.
What is “fraudulent” within Rule 3.3(b)?

Rule 3.3 comment 12 Lawyers have a special obligation to protect a tribunal against criminal or fraudulent conduct that undermines the integrity of the adjudicative process, such as bribing, intimidating or otherwise unlawfully communicating with a witness, juror, court official or other participant in the proceeding, unlawfully destroying or concealing documents or other evidence or failing to disclose info to the tribunal when required by law to do so.
Rule 1.0(d) “Fraud” or “fraudulent” denotes conduct that is fraudulent under the substantive or procedural law of the applicable jurisdiction and has a purpose to deceive.

Back to “Carl’s Story”

· Did Tanya offer false evidence through her psychiatrist?

· The psychiatrist didn’t lie, only repeated what C said.

· Did Carl engage in “fraudulent conduct related to the proceeding”?

· Does Tanya know Carl lied to the psychiatrists?

· The “sister” may not be his sister

· The sister may be his sister but lying to Tanya

· The sister may be his sister and truthful but Carl may believe his own (incorrect) story about his childhood.

· T doesn’t know what the sister said is true.  She doesn’t know C intentionally lied. Therefore she has no obligation to do something under her responsibility of candor to the court.

· Should Tanya confront Carl?  Does she have any duty to get to the bottom of it?

· This is not wise.  She could destroy her relationship with her client.  

· She also may acquire knowledge that she may have to act on.  She has no duty to track down the info.

LA Law video- can’t put a look-alike without court’s permission.

What is Truth?
Truth does not mean the same for lawyers as it is for other people.
Does it depend on the linguistic rules or conventions of the particular community?

Pinker’s observation: Latent understanding about what words mean- “Lather, rinse, repeat”

Literalness makes conversation impossible

Linguistic rules in law seem to be different.
Is truth for lawyers different?

· Bill Clinton- It depends on what the meaning of the word “is” is.

· If “is” means is and never has been, that is one thing.  If it means there is none, that was a completely true statement.

Bill Clinton again- it depends on how you define “alone”

· Yes, we were alone from time to time.  But there were also a lot of times when, even though no one could see us, the doors were open to the halls, on both sides of the halls, people could hear.  The Navy stewards could come in and out at will.  So there were a lot of times when we were alone, but I never really thought we were.

Bennett’s Letter to Judge Wright

· Monica Lewinsky submitted an affidavit hat was used in Clinton’s deposition.  During her grand jury testimony, she admitted that parts of the affidavit were misleading and not true.  Bennett wrote the judge to advise him that the court should not rely on the affidavit or remarks of counsel charactering that affidavit.
Is Truth for Judges Different?
· Simply put, the President’s deposition testimony was intentionally false, and his statements likewise were intentionally false, notwithstanding tortured definition and interpretations of the term “sexual relations”.

· In sum, the record leaves little doubt that the President violated this Court’s discovery Orders regarding disclosure of information deemed by the Court to be relevant to П’s lawsuit.  The Court therefore adjudges the President to be in civil contempt of court…

Bronston v. US (p. 364)

· Can we reconcile Bronston with Jones v. Clinton?

· Bronston says he does not have any bank accounts in Swiss banks.  When asked had he ever, he said the company had an account there for about 6 months.  He said he never had any nominees who have or had accounts in Swiss banks.
· The answer was literally true, but didn’t answer the question.  B was indicted for perjury on the grounds he didn’t answer truthfully.

· Supreme Court reversed the unanimous conviction for perjury.  Burger said it was the job of the questioner to pin down evasive clients.

US v. DeZarn (p. 365)

· Army was investigating whether positions in he reserves were being handed down for political patronage.

· DeZarn was asked if he went to Wellman’s Preakness Party in 1991, and he said he did.  He said it was absolutely not a political fundraising activity.  He knew Lt. Governor Jones was invited, but didn’t know if he made an appearance or not.

· A perjury inquiry which focuses only upon the precision of the question and ignores what the Δ knew about the subject matter of the question at the time it was asked, misses the very point of perjury:  that is, the Δ’s intent to testify falsely and, thereby, mislead his interrogators.  Such a limited inquiry would not only undermine the perjury laws, it would undermine the rule of law as a whole…

· Even if the questioning was not perfectly precise, the context in which the questions were asked made the object of the questioning clear and, more importantly, it is clear that DeZarn knew exactly the party to which Colonel Tripp (the questioner) was referring.  The evidence at trial clearly established that Billy Wellman held only one Preakness Party and that was in 1990.  No Preakness Party was held in 1991.

The Subin-Mitchell Debate (p. 378)
· After all this talk about truth, lawyers can (and may be required to) do many things to subvert what they know to be rue.

· Subin says lawyers subvert the truth by asking juries to draw inferences he knows are false, impeaching witnesses, and introducing facts through true testimony that bring up doubt about the existence of facts he knows are true.

· Subin asks how we can justify these strategies while forbidding (and requiring correction) of perjury?  Why draw the line where we do?

· He proposes a rule forbidding criminal defense lawyers (and therefore all other lawyers) who know BRD? that a fact is true “to attempt to refute that fact through the introduction of evidence, impeachment of evidence, or argument.”

· Mitchell’s hypo:  “The girl who steals the star.”

· There are no facts in the courtroom, only info (evidence) and inferences from info.

· Mitchell will not argue that his client did not steal the star but that inferences from the info (evidence) are consistent with innocence:  That is, the evidence does not establish guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

· Mitchell does recognize that a lawyer can know facts to be true.  He claims that he is not asking the jury to believe false fact.  He is only asking the jury to accept inferences from the evidence that are best for his client.

· Is Mitchell conceding too much>  Can he ask the jury to believe false fact (the magic words are “I submit…”)

· Should Subin’s rule apply in civil cases?  Should it bind prosecutors?  Should juries be instructed on the special rules for prosecutors?
· What principled basis is there for rejecting Subin’s rule but forbidding assisting perjury?
“The Eyewitness” (Part I) (p. 375)
· The client is factually guilty.

· The defense lawyer can impeach a truthful witness with a false statement on a loan application.
· Can the lawyer argue reasonable doubt bc of the difficulty of getting from Burger King to the bank in 10 minutes even though he knows that’s what the client did?

· Yes, even though she is arguing for a false inference, that’s okay.

· Part II

· The prosecutor in the same case wants to impeach the eyewitness at Burger King with a conviction for lying on a loan application? May she, even if she believes he was in Burger King?  What if she’s certain? NO

· And she wants to argue that the video camera photo from Burger King is not of Δ, though she believes it is. May she? NO
· If different rules constrain prosecutors, should the jury be told?
· 9th circuit says prosecutors can’t undermine stuff they know it true (high confidence of truth).

A.  Lawyers and Real Evidence
· What is real evidence?

· Those items that evidence is not testimonial.  Anything tangible.

· The issues in the criminal context:

· What should a lawyer do when coming into possession of real evidence that incriminates the client?

· Does it matter whether possession of the item is itself illegal or whether it item is merely probative of guilt?

· What are the answers to these questions under both ethical rules and the penal law?

· Is real evidence within the attorney-client privilege?

“In re Ryder” (p. 404)

· Ryder was representing an alleged bank robber

· He discovers some stolen loot and a sawed off shotgun in the client’s safe deposit box.

· He transfers these to his safe deposit box.

· They are eventually discovered in a search.

· R is charged with behaving unethically.

· The court accepts that Ryder intended to return the money to the bank.

· The court rejects Ryder’s claim that he didn’t “know” the money in the box was stolen.

· Ryder:  By taking possession, I would be able to assert privilege for the items.
· But privilege doesn’t protect real items.

· Court:

· The money belonged to the bank and hiding it assisted the client’s larceny
· It was illegal to possess the gun

· No professional rule permitted Ryder to hide the gun and money.

· Lesson:  It is unethical to help a client hide the fruits or instrumentalities of a crime where continuing possession of both is independently criminal.

Real Evidence and Criminal Law

· Open question:

· Would it have been unethical for Ryder to take possession of items not illegal in themselves to possess but which tend to prove the client’s guilt (inculpatory)?

· Rule 3.4(a):  “A lawyer shall not… (a) unlawfully obstruct another party’s access to evidence or unlawfully alter, destroy, or conceal a document or other material having potential evidentiary value.  A lawyer shall not counsel or assist another person to do any such act.”

· 3.4 will forbid altering or destroying anything having evidentiary value if it is unlawful to do so.

· If concealment, destruction or alteration of evidence is unlawful, it is also unethical.  But when is it unlawful?

· Obstruction of justice statutes are much in the news:  Martha Stewart, Frank Quattrone, Arthur Anderson.

· Nixon and the Watergate tapes:  Could better legal advice have saved Nixon?

· The federal obstruction statutes today:

· No official proceeding need be pending or impending, only foreseeable.

· It is a crime to destroy, conceal or alter even inadmissible evidence (or to attempt to do so).

· It is a crime to persuade someone else to do so.

· Official proceeding can include civil or criminal court actions, grand juries, congressional hearings, and proceedings before federal agencies.
· SOX expanded the scope of the obstruction statutes and upped the penalties.

· Open question under federal obstruction statutes:

· Can a lawyer take possession of probative evidence not illegal in itself to possess (i.e. not contraband, stolen property, instrumentalities of a crime or an unlicensed weapon) and put it in her (a) desk drawer; (b) office safe; (c) safe deposit box?  Or would this be “concealment” within the meaning of the statute?

“People v. Meredith” (p. 412)

· Prosecution for murder of Wade

· Schenk is appointed to represent Scott.

· Scott tells Schenk Wade’s wallet is in the “burn barrel behind his house”

· Schenk sends Frick, his investigator, to check and Frick finds the wallet in the barrel and brings it to Schenk

· Schenk gives it to the police.

Questions:

· Having taken possession, did S have to give the wallet to the police?
· Yes.  He couldn’t conceal the evidence, it belonged to someone else.
· Could he have left it in, or returned it to, the burn barrel instead?

· Yes.  There was no obligation to turn it over to the police if the police could find it themselves.
· Is the conversation in which Scott tells Schenk the location of the wallet privileged?

· Yes

· Is the fact that Schenk (via Frick) found the wallet in the barrel privileged?

· Ordinarily, what a lawyer discovers as a result of client communication is also privileged.  
· But in this case, they destroyed evidentiary value.

· The “buried bodies” case- man who murdered A also said he murdered B and C.  They saw the location of the bodies but left them there.  This stayed privileged.  They later revealed that the man murdered B and C to strengthen the insanity defense.
· If you don’t disturb the location of the evidence, you haven’t done anything wrong.

· However, an exception is needed when a lawyer destroys the evidentiary value of an object by removing or altering it.

· The wallet has evidentiary value only bc of its location.

· Court rejects defense argument that the state should first have to prove that it would probably have discovered the wallet in the barrel

· Open question:  What if Schenk got the wallet directly from Scott?

· The majority view is if you get it directly from the client, you don’t have to make up the loss of location evidence by stipulating where you got it.

· The ambiguous holding in Morrell v. State (p. 418).

· M was charged with kidnapping and was in custody.  Lawyer K was gathering evidence and M’s friend was using car and apartment with M’s permission.  Friend finds a plan for the kidnapping in M’s handwriting.  Friend brings it to K; K says he doesn’t want it; friend refuses to take it back.  K gets advice that he can’t hold onto it either.

· Is that correct advice?  It isn’t illegal to possess it, but it’s powerful evidence against M.

· K turns it over; M argues in court ineffective counsel bc K turned him in.  AK Supreme Court says under their obstruction statute K had an obligation to turn it in bc the source was not his client but a 3rd party who had no privileged communication even though it was mere evidence.

· Court says K reasonably could have concluded that the statute required him to turn it over, not that it did, but that he could reasonably conclude.  If so, he wasn’t constitutionally ineffective.  He doesn’t fail the first prong of the Strickland test.

· Morrell does stand for the proposition that the analysis changes when the source of the info is a third party.  The privilege doesn’t apply.  The lawyer’s responsibility to the state is higher when the source of info is a third party.  He doesn’t have a responsibility to a third party.

“Reliable Sources Say” (p. 401)

· Flash Pharma's GC reads a WSJ article on his way to work, citing reliable sources a reporting a criminal price fixing probe of a drug where 4 companies control 82% of the market, with Flash #2.  He has no reason to believe Flash has engaged in price fixing.

· Flash’s document retention policy requires destruction of electronic and hard copy documents every 120 days with exceptions. 

· What should the GC do?

· He should have documents not taken to the shredder and removed from the general files and placed somewhere in his custody.

· Should he make an effort to stop automatic destruction of documents relating to the focus of the probe?

· Some may be exculpatory!

· How can the lawyer know the focus?

· Will the company be at risk if he does nothing and relevant documents are automatically destroyed?

· Does he have to worry that some employees, reading the same article, will consciously destroy documents that they believe are inculpatory?

· Will the act of an employee subject Flash to prosecution?

· GC has to worry that their acts will be imputed to the organization.  Company could be charged with obstruction even if there’s no underlying criminal act (impeding the ability of the government to get to the bottom of an investigation, even if at the conclusion of the investigation they determine there was no crime)

· The Arthur Anderson prosecution.

· SOX moots the Anderson decision.  It is a crime to knowingly corrupt and persuade another to destroy a document with the intention of evading.

“Vanity Ink” (p. 401)

· Senta’s client, Chester, is charged with tax fraud for backdating certain corporate documents.

· The evidence is weak.  Chester denies he did it.

· That backdating was done using a unique purple color ink.

· Shortly before trial, Chester leaves his pen at Senta’s office.  The pen has the same shade of purple ink used to backdate.  It may or may not have been used to backdate the documents.

· Senta examines it.  The cartridge is made by a custom ink company in Portugal, where Chester regularly travels on business.

· Senta asks what she should do with the pen.  Possible answers:

· Put it in her desk drawer- this reduces the likelihood that the authorities will find it in a place that gives it evidentiary value.  In the drawer, it loses the direct C nexis (like in Meredith).  Putting it in the drawer carries some small risk bc no one has ever been faulted before for leaving near evidence in one’s office.

· Put it in her safe deposit box

· Give it back to Chester- it’s fine to give it back.
· If she does this, what warnings can or should she give him?  What should she ask?

· Give it to the authorities

It’s safe to give it to the authorities.  They can’t fault her or force her to identify C as the source of the pen.  The prosecutor may be able to identify S as the source of the pen if she sends it anonymously.  But the prosecution is still denied the nexis to C.

Gillers says give the pen back and say nothing.

Restatement of the Law Governing Lawyers
§ 119 Physical Evidence of a Client Crime 
With respect to physical evidence of a client crime, a lawyer:

(1) may, when reasonably necessary for purposes of the representation, take possession of the evidence and retain it for the time reasonably necessary to examine it and subject it to tests that do not alter or destroy material characteristics of the evidence; but
(2) following possession under Subsection (1), the lawyer must notify prosecuting authorities of the lawyer’s possession of the evidence or turn the evidence over to them.

Comment to § 119:  
· This section applies to evidence of a client crime, contraband, weapons, and similar evidence used in an offense.  It also includes such material as documents and material in electronically receivable form used by the client to plan the offense, documents used in the course of a mail-fraud violation, or transaction documents evidencing a crime.

· Under the general criminal law, physical evidence of a client crime in possession of the lawyer may not be retained to a point at which its utility as evidence for the prosecution is significantly impaired, such as by waiting until after the trial.

· Some decisions have alluded to an additional option—returning the evidence to the site from which it was taken, when that can be accomplished without destroying or altering material characteristics of the evidence.  That will often be impossible.  The option would also be unavailable when the lawyer reasonably should know that the client or other person will intentionally alter or destroy the evidence.

§ 118 Falsifying or Destroying Evidence
(1) A lawyer may not falsify documentary or other evidence.

(2) A lawyer may not destroy or obstruct another party’s access to documentary or other evidence when doing so would violate a court order to other legal requirements, to counsel or assist a client to do so.

· S has no reason to believe c will destroy it since he kept it all this time, so it seems safest to return the pen.  You also shouldn’t tell C anything that may cause him to destroy the pen (§ 118).
B.  Negotiation and Transactional Matters

· Most of this you’re not in court, so there’s no procedural rules.

· Two central questions:

1. What are a lawyer’s confidentiality duties when the client’s fraud is on a person, not a court, and the lawyer learns about it during or after the representation?  The “bad client” problem.

2. Are there ethical limits on what lawyers may do in negotiation that go beyond what the law requires or forbids?  The “you’re a lawyer!” problem.

· Even if they’re not illegal, they may be sanctionable by the Bar.

· Any compromise in the confidentiality or loyalty duties in answering either question would recognize an obligation to the opposing party.
Model Rule 1.16(a)

Except as stated in paragraph (c) (matters before a tribunal), a lawyer shall not represent a client or, where representation has commenced, shall withdraw from the representation of a client if

(1) the representation will result in violation of the rules of professional conduct or other law;

· N.B. When before a tribunal, you can’t withdraw after filing a notice of appearance without a judge’s permission.
Model Rule 1.2(d)

A lawyer shall not counsel a client to engage, or assist a client, in conduct that the lawyer knows is criminal or fraudulent, but a lawyer may discuss the legal consequences of any proposed course of conduct with a client and may counsel or assist a client to make a good faith effort to determine the validity, scope, meaning or application of the law.

· i.e. the lawyer can’t help the client accomplish fraud.

Model Rule 4.1 (parallel to 3.3)
Candor in the negotiation non-tribunal context
In the course of representing a client a lawyer shall  not knowingly:

(a) make a false statement of material fact or law to a third person; or

(b) fail to disclose a material fact to a third person when disclosure is necessary to avoid assisting a criminal or fraudulent act by a client, unless disclosure is prohibited by Rule 1.6.
Notes:
(a) A broad rule.  Non-lawyers may be able to do this to some extent without a criminal or civil violation.

(b) If it is the only way you can avoid assisting a client’s fraud (violation of 1.2(d)) you have to do it.

Withdrawal might be another way; if not, you have to speak if silence will assist the client’s fraud, unless prohibited by Rule 1.6.  Knowledge will almost always be in confidence.

Remember the exception to 1.6 (1.6(b)).
Rule 1.6(b)
A lawyer may reveal information relating to the representation of a client to the extent the lawyer reasonably believes necessary:…
(2) to prevent the client from committing a crime or fraud that is reasonably certain to result in substantial injury to the financial interests or property of another and in furtherance of which the client has used or is using the lawyer’s services;

(3) to prevent, mitigate, or rectify substantial injury to the financial interests or property of another that is reasonably certain to result or has resulted from the client’s commission of a crime or fraud in furtherance of which the client has used the lawyer’s services.
(6) to comply with other law or a court order.

A partial summary:

· Rule 1.6(b)(2) and (3) permit a lawyer to reveal a current or former client’s fraud when their conditions are met and Rule 1.6(b)(6) allows it to comply with law or court order.

· Rule 4.1(b) requires a lawyer to disclose a material fact if failure to do so will mean the lawyer has assisted a client crime or fraud but not if disclosure is “prohibited” by Rule 1.6.  But the three cited exceptions to Rule 1.6 will often (but not always) mean that disclosure is not “prohibited”.

· If you continue to represent the client, 4.1 will require you to disclose.  The lawyer can ordinarily withdraw instead and avoid the Rule 4.1 mandate (as far as the Rules go).

· Conditions- the lawyer has to reasonably believe revelation is necessary to prevent or rectify; there has to be substantial financial harm.

· Even If withdrawal is allowed ethically, is there a risk of civil liability?

· Generally, the courts come down against the lawyer.  This is a big issue for the profession.

C.  The Noisy Withdrawal

· What happens if there is no Rule 1.6 exception to confidentiality bc,

The harm from the fraud will not be “substantial”, as Rule 1.6(b)(2) and (3) require? Or

The lawyer does not “reasonably believe” disclosure is “necessary” to prevent fraud or noisy injury?

· You use the “noisy withdrawal”.

Origin of the Noisy Withdrawal
· OPM case in NY:

· OPM had a ponsi scheme.  Company tried to pretend it wouldn’t do it anymore so firm wouldn’t drop it.  Still committed fraud so firm dropped it.  Company went to new firm.  New form contacted old firm.  Firm didn’t say.  Bank sued the law firm for their loss.

· Lawyers caught in a vice:

· A duty not to assist fraud.

· A duty not to reveal client confidences.

· A duty to withdraw from representing a client who is committing fraud.

· But what if even after the withdrawal, the client continues the fraud using documents the lawyer prepared for the client before the lawyer discovered the fraud?

Rule 4.1 comment 3:  Sometimes it may be necessary for the lawyer to give notice of the fact of withdrawal and to disaffirm an opinion, document, affirmation or the like.

Rule 1.2 comment 10:  In some cases, withdrawal alone might be insufficient [to avoid assisting a client’s fraud]. It may be necessary for the lawyer to give notice of the fact of withdrawal and to disaffirm any opinion, document, affirmation or the like.  See Rule 4.1

This language contemplates revelation to avoid continuation of a fraud.

Noisy withdrawal in NY:

· NY, the site of the OPM case, amended its Code to add a paragraph 5 to DR 4-101(C).  The addition permits a lawyer to reveal:

· “Confidences or secrets to the extent implicit in withdrawing a written or oral opinion or representation previously given by the lawyer and believed by the lawyer still to be relied upon by a third person where the lawyer has discovered that the opinion or representation was based on materially inaccurate information or is being sued to further a crime or fraud.”
Model Rule 4.1(a)

Do the rules impose ethical duties on lawyers that don’t burden non-lawyer negotiators?  The “you’re a lawyer!” problem.
Rule 4.1(a) provides:

“In the course of representing a client a lawyer shall not knowingly make a false statement of material fact or law to a third person.”

Rule 4.1 comment 1:
“A misrepresentation can occur if the lawyer incorporates or affirms a statement of another person that the lawyer knows is false.  Misrepresentations can also occur by partially true but misleading statements or omissions that are the equivalent of affirmative false statements.”

Rule 4.4(a):

“In representing a client, a lawyer shall not use means that have no substantial purpose other than to embarrass, delay, or burden a third person…”

Rubin v. Schottenstein, Zox & Dunn (p. 426)

· Rubin and Cohen, considering an investment in MDI, talked with Barnhart, its lawyer at the Δ firm.  Weiss, their lawyer, did too.

· B said the investment would not create a problem with Star Bank, MDI’s principal lender.  In fact, the investment constituted a (further) breach of the loan agreement.

· Star Bank froze MDI’s account as soon as the investors’ money ($150K) was deposited.

· MDI then filed for bankruptcy and П lost their money.  They sued B and his firm on claims of securities fraud and state law fraud.

· Questions on this appeal from an order granting summary judgment to Δ:
· Did B, MDI’s lawyer, owe any duty to П to disclose that the investment was a default event and that MDI had already defaulted?

· Did R and C have a right to rely on B’s statements?

· Court:  B had no duty to speak, but having chosen to speak “concerning the status of MDI’s relationship with Star Bank” and the bank’s “likely reaction” to П’s investment, he had “a duty not to misrepresent or omit material facts.”

· Court:  П could rely on B’s omissions, meaning they could assume that B’s failure to mention either that MDI was then in default or that their investment would be a further act of default meant that neither of these things were true.

· Court:  The investor should not have to bear the expense of checking things out and they should rely on what counsel says.  This saves transaction costs.

· Δ are free at trial to prove that П’s reliance was not reasonable, perhaps bc the facts were easily ascertainable. 

· П also seek damages on the ground that B not only omitted facts he was under a duty to reveal but also on the ground that B affirmatively misrepresented facts, that is, lied. (Star Bank would look on the investment “with favor”)

· Court:  A lawyer’s misrepresentations are actionable under the securities law unless reliance on them is reckless.  That question is for the jury.

· The court stresses that R asked probing questions and the size of the investment was relatively small (why should that matter?).

· Δ: As lawyers, we had a duty of confidentiality.

· Court:  This is the “least persuasive argument.”

· Confidentiality duties do not excuse “outright lies”.

· Securities law applies to “any person- not excepting lawyers”.

· The proposition that a represented party may not “rely on the opinion of the other party’s attorney” pertains to her opinion or her research on legal points.

· It does not apply to a lawyers factual statements.

· “Admission to the bar, if anything, imposes a heightened, not a lessened, requirement of probity.”
· The state fraud claims also go to trial.

Thornwood, Inc. v. Jenner & Block (p. 433)

The allegations are:

· Thornton and Follensbee were partners in developing a golf course.  The project was in trouble.

· F secretly approached the PGA to designate the property a Tournament Players Course (TPC).

· F then bought out T’s interest without telling him about the PGA interest.

· This violated F’s fiduciary duties.

· П alleges that J&B knowingly aided F in these endeavors.

· The case goes to trial even though there is no allegation that J&B itself said anything (false) to T.  The allegation is they helped F knowing that this violated F’s fiduciary duty to T.
Transaction with Unrepresented Persons:
Florida Bar v. Belleville (p. 436)

· Client Bloch negotiated a one-sided deal with Cowan, who had no lawyer, to buy an apartment building.

· The papers Belleville prepared included Cowan’s residence as well.

· On these facts, Belleville had a duty to explain to Cowan that he represented only Bloch, the terms of the deal, and how one-sided they were.

Model Rule 4.3

In dealing on behalf of a client with a person who is not represented by counsel, a lawyer shall not state or imply that the lawyer is disinterested.  When the lawyer knows or reasonably should know that the unrepresented person misunderstands the lawyer’s role in that matter, the lawyer shall make reasonable efforts to correct the misunderstanding.  The lawyer shall not give legal advice to an unrepresented person, other than the advice to secure counsel, if the lawyer knows or reasonably should know that the interests of such a person are or have a reasonable possibility of being in conflict with the interests of the client.
Model Rule 1.13

(f) In dealing with an organization’s directors, officers, employees, members, shh or other constituents, a lawyer shall explain the identity of the client when the lawyer knows or reasonably should know that the organization’s interests are adverse to those of the constituents with whom the lawyer is dealing.

Fire Ins. Exchange v. Bell (p. 440)

· Scaletta, counsel for the insurer, tells П’s counsel that the policy limits are $100K when in fact he knows they are $300K.
· П on advice of counsel settles for lower sum then learns the truth and sues S, his firm, and the insurer.

· Defense:  П had “no right to rely” bc the relationship was adverse and П could have discovered the info on his own.

· [The issue also arises when П sues her own lawyer who impleads the opposing lawyer.  See Hansen at p. 442]

· П sues her own lawyer saying she should have checked up.  The lawyer said she had a right to rely on the other lawyer.

· Court says attorneys shouldn’t be burdened with verifying the truthfulness of representations made by opposing counsel.  Efficiency argument.

· Court:  “We decline to require attorneys to burden unnecessarily the courts and litigation process with discovery to verify the truthfulness of material representations made by opposing counsel.  The reliability of lawyers’ representations is an integral component of the fair and efficient administration of justice.  The law should promote lawyers’ care in making statements that are accurate and trustworthy and should foster the reliance upon such statements by others…We hold that Bell’s attorney’s right to rely upon any material misrepresentation that may have been made by opposing counsel is established as a matter of law.”
· The Court disciplined the lawyer- there was a duty for the lawyer to inform the unrepresented client that the deal was one-sided and that the lawyer did not represent him.

“The Bad Builder’s Good Lawyer”  (p. 421)

· This is a new business inquiry.

· Do the prospective clients, the Sonibles, have a claim against Lucy McIntosh?

· Lucy worked for a builder named Kluny who was building an upscale second home community.

· The Sonibles contracted to buy one of the homes.

· The contract called for top of the line Arrow Point plumbing.

· During the work there, there was a strike at Arrow Point.  K substituted inferior pipes, though they were up to code, in seven homes.  Four of these, including the Sonible home, were under contract.  Two were on the market. One had closed

· The Sonibles then closed ignorant of the substitution.  The pipes burst causing $2 million in damages to the house and its contents and made the house unlivable for a year.

· But before the S closed, L learned what K did from a subcontractor and K admitted it.  She quit the next day, saying nothing.

· What L did for K before she learned about the plumbing:

· She prepared documents including the master contract.

· She negotiated the contracts with buyers’ lawyers, including S’s lawyers.

· She filed required documents with ST DRED, the land use regulator.

· All documents specified top of the line Arrow point.

· Questions:

· Did Rule 1.6(b)(2) or (3) let Lucy reveal what she learned?

· Was “substantial” financial harm “reasonably certain” to occur?

· No, the substitute pipes were up to code.  The harm was only substantial if the pipes burst.

· But knowing that they had Arrow Point plumbing, the owners may have made demands on the system they may not have made had they known the truth.

· If not, could L have done a noisy withdrawal instead, since these two conditions are not required for a noisy withdrawal?

· Rule 2.1 comment 10:

· “In some cases, withdrawal alone might be insufficient [to avoid assisting a client’s fraud].  It may be necessary for the lawyer to give notice of the fact of withdrawal and disaffirm any opinion, document, affirmation or the like.”  See also Rule 4.1 comment 3.
· What would L withdraw noisily?
· The ST DRED filing

· The contracts she drafted and negotiated.

· What effect would this have?

· Withdrawing the ST DRED filing would probably shut down the project and in any event would alert the buyers of the 4 homes still on the market, whose identity is not yet known.

· Are there independent obligations to ST DRED?

· Withdrawing the 2 contracts that haven’t closed would alert those buyers.

· Both acts would alert the buyer who has closed but not yet been harmed.

· L would also have to worry about K.

· So we’ve established that a noisy withdrawal or invoking a Rule 1.6 exception would have prevented the harm.

· The legal question:  Does failure to do either when Lucy could have done one or both make her liable under substantive law?

· This is not quite like OPM bc Lucy quit right away; not quite like Rubin bc Lucy did not make any knowing misstatement or omissions; not like Thornwood bc Lucy did not knowingly help Kluny’s fraud.

· All L did was remain silent after she quit.

· The reality of the situation:

· Silence risks liability to the buyers.

· Talking risks liability to K or violation of Rule 1.6.

· If we’re advising L, we might say it’s not likely a tribunal will be sympathetic to K.  A court would be loathe to sanction L for taking back false statements that were unwittingly provided.
· She should tell K in advance so he can remedy the situation.  Remaining silent will make the chances of getting sued pretty high.

D.  Entity Representation

Sometimes you have to make it clear that the lawyer is not the individual’s lawyer, but the entity’s lawyer.
Rule 1.13

(a) A lawyer employed or retained by an organization represents the organization acting through its duly authorized constituents…

(f) In dealing with an organization's directors, officers, employees, members, shh or other constituent, a lawyer shall explain the identity of the client when the lawyer knows or reasonably should know that the organization’s interests are adverse to those of the constituents with whom the lawyer is dealing.
(g) A lawyer representing an organization may also represent any of its directors, officers, employees, members, shh or other constituents, subject to the provisions of Rule 1.7…

(b)  If a lawyer for an organization knows that an officer, employee or other person associated with the organization is engaged in action, intends to act or refuses to act in a matter related to the representation that is a violation of the legal obligation to the organization, or a violation of law that reasonably might be imputed to the organization, and that is likely to result in substantial injury to the organization, then the lawyer shall proceed as is reasonably necessary in the best interest of the organization.  Unless the lawyer reasonably believes that it is not necessary in the best interest of the organization to do so, the lawyer shall refer the matter to higher authority in the organization, including, if warranted by the circumstances, to the highest authority that can act on behalf of the organization as determined by applicable law.

· i.e. Sometimes you have to report up (SOX).

(c) Except as provided in paragraph (d), if

(1) despite the lawyer’s efforts in accordance with paragraph (b) the highest authority that can act on behalf of the organization insists upon or fails to address in a timely and appropriate manner an action, or a refusal to act, that is clearly a violation of law, and
(2) the lawyer reasonably believes that the violation is reasonably cetin to result in substantial injury to the organization, then the lawyer may reveal info relating to the representation whether or not Rule 1.6 permits such disclosure, but only if and to the extent the lawyer reasonably believes necessary to prevent substantial injury to the organization.
(d) Paragraph (c) shall not apply with respect to info relating to a lawyer’s representation of an organization to investigate an alleged violation of law, or to defend the organization or an officer, employee or other constituent associated with the organization against a claim arising out of an alleged violation of law.
· i.e. (c) doesn’t apply when a lawyer is hired to investigate wrongdoing.  That lawyer doesn’t have the authority to blow the whistle.

Tekni-Plex, Inc. v. Meyner & Landis (p. 454)

· M&L represented Old TP and Tang in a transaction in which Tang, the sole TP shh at the time, sold TP to a shell company, which was then renamed TP (New TP).
· Tang warranted that old TP was in compliance with environmental laws.

· The agreement provided for arbitration.

· New TP brings an arbitration against Tang alleging violation of the warranty with regard to a TP plant in Somerville; it says the plant is not in compliance and the permit for it was obtained on false pretenses.

· M&L had represented old TP in getting the Somerville permit.

· M&L appears for Tang in the arbitration.  New TP seeks to disqualify it.  It goes to court. (previously only courts could rule in disqualification)

· Applying the NY equivalent of Rule 1.9(a)
· Is the current dispute the same or substantially related to the work M&L did for old TP in Somerville? 
· YES.  They got the permit for the plant, and this action is about whether the permit was a false one.
· Is New TP a former client of M&L?

· Tang argues Old TP was the client and is defunct.

· Court:  New TP is a former client on pre-merger matters but not on the merger itself, where the buyer and Old TP (Tang) were on opposite sides, as they are in the current matter.

· Is the arbitration adverse to NEW TP?

· Yes, on allegations arising out of the Somerville plant.

· In the lower courts, M&L was enjoined from revealing any confidential info gained in representing Old TP to Tang.

· Higher Court:  

· that’s right as to pre-merger work (including Somerville) bc New TP as a practical matter succeeded to the rights of Old TP to claim the incidents of the attorney-client relationship.

· But that’s not right as regards the merger itself bc then Old TP and Tang were aligned against the buyer.

· The judge says this is not like a property sale.  The deal was practically speaking the sale of a company and all its assets.  Except for the change of high level people, it’s the same product, customers, assets, physical plant.  This is just a substitution of new owners for old owners.  The new owners control the incidence of lawyer-client relationship: privilege, loyalty, confidentiality.

· New TP overreached and said M&L was their lawyer on the breach of warranty and plant but also in every piece of info possessed as a result of the representation of Old TP; this is New TP’s info too, including everything learned in merger negotiations.  NO!

· Old TP and Tang had a unity of interests and New TP was represented by counsel in opposition to them.  The buyer and seller were adverse and M&L represented the seller.  The seller had a right to info from the merger.  Otherwise, sellers would know everything they said to their lawyers would have to be turned over to their adversary on the buy sell, which would frustrate the attorney-client relationship and the ability to be candid.

· So we learn that the incidence of the attorney-client relationship and the protections they afford can be waived, especially by former clients.

· What if anything could M&L have done to avoid this result?

· They could agree to advance consent where they waive the claim of conflict such that they can continue to represent Tang in the arbitration. The buyer would likely say they had to pay for that.

E.  Corporate Matters

Corporate family members:

· When you represent one member of a corporate family, you represent the others for the purpose of conflict

· When does the representation of one member of a corporate family (parent, sub) translate into a representation of other members of the family (sub, parent, co-sub)

· By agreement express or implied (battle of the forms- dueling retainer agreements)

· Major employer wants a firm to represent them on a number of items, but the firm can’t be adverse to any of the board members or any future members.  Is the work substantial enough to freeze themselves out of any matters that are adverse to the many members of that board?

· The retainer can spell out the relationship between the firm and members of the corporate family.

· Market power- how badly does the firm want the client, how badly does the client want the firm?  
· The entities are alter egos- this test rarely used
· The entities have integrated mgmt and counsel functions

· The law firm in doing work for P (or S) acquired confidences of S (or P) relevant to a matter adverse to the latter.

· A matter adverse to a non-client family member can have serious economic consequences to the client.

· E.g. Davis Polk sues Federal which accounted for 90% of client Chubb’s income (p. 467).  Judge Rakoff excluded DP.
Closely Held Entities (and contests for control):

Murphy & Demory v. Murphy (p. 471)

· Murphy & Demory, Ltd. was Pillsbury’s client (closely held corporation).
· Admiral Murphy, apparently the main business getter, sought to control the company or divert business to a new company he would control.

· Murphy concealed these efforts from Demory
· Murphy’s conduct violated his fiduciary duty to the company, i.e. stealing business or the whole company.

· Pillsbury helped Murphy without telling its client, the company, by the following actions, among others:

· Simultaneously representing two clients with different interests (taking v. keeping business)

· Helping M get control through secret meetings with the third director.

· Using company confidences to aid M’s plan

· Helping to divert business from the company and inducing its employees to leave to go with M.

· Failing to give the company relevant info

· Filing an action to dissolve the company, by then a former client, in reliance on its confidential info.

· Associates questioned the work and their questions were referred to Siemer, the partner working for M.
· S not credible when she said that M and the company had had the same interest in insuring that M had the best info

· But the company had no interest in enabling M to undermine the company

· The firm’s internal controls are questioned

· There was no appeal

· Demory sued everyone, including Pillsbury.

· The company’s lawyer must stay out of contests for control.

“Contraindications” (p. 449)

· Worzek is consulting Sinder.  He believes, after investigation and with some justification, that his employer, Lifecare, is marketing a pain medication, Amulex, that could cause cardiovascular harm to some patients.
· W raises the issue with his two superiors in the legal department, Van Camp and Killington.  They tell him nothing is amiss but offer no greater comfort.

· W thinks he is being squeezed out.  He wasn’t allowed to go to the annual professional meeting and hasn’t been getting good work.

· W is worried abut his job, about his ethical responsibilities, and about possible financial exposure to injured customers if he does nothing.
Questions for Sinder:

· Rule 1.13(b) requires knowledge of bad things.  If he does, he must proceed to the extent that is necessary.

· Does W have knowledge within the meaning of Rule 1.13(b)?

· We don’t know, and S can’t tell from this info either.

· Is whatever he knows “related to the representation” within the meaning of Rule 1.13(b)?

· W was asked to investigate this matter, so it is related (unlike a tax lawyer who stumbles onto a products liability matter).

· Is his information within the reporting out authority of Rule 1.13(c)?  
· He can reveal if the misconduct and danger to the company is really bad, but it’s permissible.
· How about Rule 1.13(d)?

· It is within 1.13(d) and exception to the permissive authority of 1.13(c).  W was charged with investigating the possible problem.  His assignment puts him within

· Is W violating Rule 1.6 by telling S his clients’ confidential info?

· W can share with S bc he has to get advice about his predicament.  1.6 doesn’t talk about knowledge as 1.13(b) does.

· The pressure is against finding knowledge a la 1.13(b).

· Does Rule 1.6(b)(1) allow W to reveal confidential info?  Should he?

· How can S know “the facts?”

· Apart from what the ethical rules may require or allow, what about W’s fear for his job and the possible liability:

· Should he send a written memo to his bosses?

· It is difficult to report over his bosses or not say anything and risk his client.

· W should send a memo to his bosses and copy it to his file.  The bosses can then determine what to do, and he has done what he should have.

· The bosses won’t want it in writing bc it’s discoverable.

· Does that create a “paper trail” that can hurt Lifecare and perhaps be an independent basis for termination (poor judgment)?

· But without a writing, it will be harder to show that he did the “right thing” for his client.

· If W is fired, can he sue Lifecare for retaliatory discharge in tort or contract (which is better)?

· In tort the damages are higher.  

· There is no retaliatory discharge in NY unless by statute, but used widely in other states.

· What is retaliatory discharge?

· The strange history of a cause of action: from Balla to General Dynamics to Crews

· Et tu ACCA?

· The plight of the employed lawyer

· The client’s right to discharge a lawyer

· Risks to confidences if lawyers have retaliatory discharge claims

· The Douglas case (p. 486) and a caveat

· The rights of associates
Model Rule 1.13(b)
(b)  If a lawyer for an organization knows that an officer, employee or other person associated with the organization is engaged in action, intends to act or refuses to act in a matter related to the representation that is a violation of the legal obligation to the organization, or a violation of law that reasonably might be imputed to the organization, and that is likely to result in substantial injury to the organization, then the lawyer shall proceed as is reasonably necessary in the best interest of the organization.  Unless the lawyer reasonably believes that it is not necessary in the best interest of the organization to do so, the lawyer shall refer the matter to higher authority in the organization, including, if warranted by the circumstances, to the highest authority that can act on behalf of the organization as determined by applicable law.

· i.e. Sometimes you have to report up (SOX).

Model Rule 1.13(c)

(c) Except as provided in paragraph (d), if

(1) despite the lawyer’s efforts in accordance with paragraph (b) the highest authority that can act on behalf of the organization insists upon or fails to address in a timely and appropriate manner an action, or a refusal to act, that is clearly a violation of law, and

(2) the lawyer reasonably believes that the violation is reasonably cetin to result in substantial injury to the organization, then the lawyer may reveal info relating to the representation whether or not Rule 1.6 permits such disclosure, but only if and to the extent the lawyer reasonably believes necessary to prevent substantial injury to the organization.

Model Rule 1.13(d)

(d) Paragraph (c) shall not apply with respect to info relating to a lawyer’s representation of an organization to investigate an alleged violation of law, or to defend the organization or an officer, employee or other constituent associated with the organization against a claim arising out of an alleged violation of law.

· i.e. (c) doesn’t apply when a lawyer is hired to investigate wrongdoing.  That lawyer doesn’t have the authority to blow the whistle.

Model Rule 1.6(b)

(b) A lawyer may reveal information relating to the representation of a client to the extent the lawyer reasonably believes necessary:

(1) To prevent reasonably certain death or substantial bodily harm… (until 2002, the harm or death had to be “imminent”, the actor had to be the client, and the act had to be a crime); 

(4) To secure legal advice about the lawyer’s compliance with these Rules… 

V.  PROFESSIONAL CONSIDERATIONS
A.  Admission to the Bar
· Geographical Exclusion:  Piper (p. 539)

· NH refused to let Piper gain admission at all bc she was not a resident of the state. 

· A state can’t prevent a person from taking the bar and practicing even if that person didn’t live in that state

· 400 yards and the Rehnquist dissent- lawyers are part of the governance apparatus of the state.  State has an interest in having lawyers there to participate in the governance of the state.
· Geographical Restriction:  Friedman and the motion admission (p. 547)

· Lawyers admitted anywhere can gain admission to the bar of their jurisdiction without taking the bar exam upon motion.

· Friedman lived in MD worked in VA.  She sued and won also on privileges and immunities grounds.

· VA had motion admission but limited it to people who lived in VA.

· VA argued that it was not keeping Friedman out of its bar but simply denying her the convenience of motion admissions, which it said it did not under Piper have to afford nonresidents.  The court disagreed.

· Goldfarb (p. 551):  He lived in VA, worked in DC.  He was not entitled to motion admission and lost bc he was not discriminated against based on geography.
· Education and Examination:  Accepted without question

· Character inquiries:  Greater scrutiny

· In re Mustafa (p. 553):  Misuse of moot court funds

· Candor and the admission process:  Essential
· Ignoring financial obligations including child support: Risky

· Criminal charges or convictions

· Academic discipline
· English fluency

· “The Racist Bar Applicant” (p. 559)

· The closer things happen to law school, the bigger the problem

“Shattered Glass” (p. 553)

· While on the staff of The New Republic in the 1990’s, Stephen Glass, a gifted write who also wrote for the Times magazine and other publications, fabricated all or parts of 27 stories.  He was in his mid-20’s.

· In response to suspicions, he lied to editors.  He created false evidence (documents, a website).

· When discovered and could no longer lie, he confessed and broke down.

· All the while he was a night law student at Georgetown

· Should Georgetown have let him graduate or should it have kicked him out or forced him to take a leave?

· Glass has since passed the NY bar exam, but has not been admitted to practice although he has applied.

· He’ll never again work as a journalist.  Should he be allowed to work as a lawyer?

· Yes- people can change; he should be admitted in X years depending on what he’s done in the interval.

· No- clients and courts will be asked to trust him, unaware of his history.  Equivalent conduct as a lawyer would get him disbarred.

Character Committee:

· Arguments Against:

· Invades privacy

· Can and has been used in a discriminatory way (Jerold Auerbach, “Unequal Justice”)

· Perpetuates an elitist view of lawyers

· It will make mistakes (false negatives)

· Past conduct is not a sufficiently valid predictor of future behavior as a lawyer.

· Arguments for:

· Risk of false negatives is a reason to provide procedural and substantive safeguards, not to dispense with them

· Public expectations in state licensure

· Some people, by virtue of their conduct, do pose a great risk to clients and courts

· Committee mainly protects unsophisticated users of legal services; big users don’t need them

· It is intellectually difficult to have disciplinary committees and reject character committees.

B.  Multijurisdictional Practice
· Rules v. Reality
· Territoriality
· If competent in NY, you can advise people on the law of wherever, as long as you are in NY.  But you can’t advise in CA, even if you know a lot about CA law.

· “It’s where you practice law, not the law you practice.”

· How the rules are enforced
· Discipline (rare)
· Prosecution for unauthorized practice of the law (UPL) (also rare)
· Loss of fee

· Valid state interests

· Competency, character and control- if not a member of the CA bar, you can’t be disciplined or suspended.
· Economic protection of the local bar

Leis v. Flynt (p. 565)

· NY lawyer Faringer appears in OH for Larry Flynt

· Court refuses to grant him pro hac vice status and doesn’t give him a reason or hearing.

· Flynt sues in federal court.

· The case is about the rights of the lawyers, not Flynt.
· Younger abstention

· Court: 5-4 opinion without oral argument:  F loses- there is no due process right deserving of protection

· No state created property right to appear PHV

· No federal right to appear

· No right denied, so no right to a hearing on denial

Dissent:

· Importance of lawyers being able to practice

· OH courts had routinely admitted lawyers PHV, so there was an implicit promise to do so that got taken away.

· Due Process clause protects the interest of the bar “in discharging its responsibility for the fair administration of justice in our adversary system.”

· As a matter of practice, trial judges routinely permit lawyers to appear PHV, sometimes requiring association with local counsel in case there is an emergency hearing or something that requires a quick appearance.
· Cases have consistently held (though not unanimously) the right of a client to hire an out of state lawyer including under the 6th Amendment.

· What about lawyers (the great majority) who are not involved in dispute resolution?

· PHV is not available to transactional lawyers.
· There is no limitation on the scope of work as there is in litigation, where the pleadings define the work allowed.

· Yet (a) increased specialization, (b) the uniformity of much state law (and all federal and international law), (c) cost and efficiency, (d) client preferences, and (e) the availability of the law anywhere from anywhere all argue in favor of greater flexibility.

· Alternatives:

· National bar admission

· One state license is enough:  have license can travel
· Carving out “local law exceptions” to national practice?

· Still the problem of control (if you’re not admitted, you can’t be disciplined)

Birbrower et al. v. Superior Court (p. 574)

· NY law firm represents closely held company in NY

· NY client asks firm to represent a related company (ESQ.) on the west coast (common ownership) in an impending arbitration against Tandem.

· Partners make three brief trips to the coast to interview expert, negotiate settlement with opponent.

· ESQ- Tandem dispute settles

· ESQ sues for malpractice; sues firm for fee

· ESQ claims firm lawyers engaged in UPL “in” CA and can’t get paid

· Firm says ESQ knew lawyers were NY lawyers

· Court:

· Three trips to state plus the following establish “extensive” practice of law “in” CA:

· Contract with Tandem provided for CA law to apply

· CA designated as site for arbitration

· Client was CA company

· CA law controls firm’s fee agreement

· NY license inadequate to protect CA residents bc “other states’ laws may differ substantially”

· ESQ’s knowledge that Birbrower lawyers admitted only in NY is irrelevant. This is a public policy matter.

· “Mere fortuitous or attenuated contacts will not sustain a finding” of UPL “in CA.”

· Representation in connection with pending arbitration is the practice of law.

· Dissent: No it’s not.

· Actually, what is “the practice of law”?

· Firm:

· At least pay us for work we did in NY (even on CA law?)

· Court says firm can get paid on a quantum meruit basis for some services performed while physically “outside CA” that weren’t virtually in CA.
· But “one may practice law in the state…though not physically present here by advising a CA client on CA law in connection with a CA legal dispute by telephone, fax, computer or other modern technological means.”

· Does this make sense?

· Why Birbrower was bad for CA and the fallout

· If you are CA, you worry that other states will do the same thing to you.


· If you negotiate and add an arbitration clause, lawyers negotiating against CA lawyers will not agree to CA or CA venue for arbitration bc they don’t want to be caught in a Birbrower situation.

· CA will lose arbitral business which is a moneymaker.

· The ABA takes up the issues

· When should an out of state lawyer be allowed to practice law “in” another state?

· How can the “host” state protect its citizens against unscrupulous lawyers?

· What should be the “home” state’s responsibility if one of its lawyers violates a rule in the “host” state?
· Should we have a special (“house-counsel”) rule for employed lawyers who have one client and are moved between offices of the client?

Model Rule 5.5

(a) A lawyer shall not practice law in a jurisdiction in violation of the regulation of the legal profession in that jurisdiction, or assist another in doing so.
(b) A lawyer who is not admitted to practice in this jurisdiction shall not:

(1) except as authorized by these Rules or other law, establish an office or other systematic and continuous presence in this jurisdiction for the practice of law; or

(2) hold out to the public or otherwise represent that the lawyer is admitted to practice law in this jurisdiction
(c) A lawyer admitted in another US jurisdiction, and not disbarred or suspended from practice in any jurisdiction, may provide legal services on a temporary basis in this jurisdiction that:

(1) are undertaken in association with a lawyer who is admitted to practice in this jurisdiction and who actively participates in the matter; 

(2) are in or reasonably related to a pending or potential proceeding before a tribunal in this or another jurisdiction, if the lawyer, or a person the lawyer is assisting, is authorized by law or order to appear in such proceeding or reasonably expects to be so authorized;

(3) are in or reasonably related to a pending or potential arbitration, mediation, or other alternative dispute resolution proceeding in this or another jurisdiction, if the services arise out of or are reasonably related to the lawyer’s practice in a jurisdiction in which the lawyer is admitted to practice and are not services for which the forum requires pro hac vice admission; or
(4) are not within paragraphs (c)(2) or (c)(3) and arise out of or are reasonably related to the lawyer’s practice in a jurisdiction in which the lawyer is admitted to practice.
(d) A lawyer admitted in another US jurisdiction, and not disbarred or suspended from practice in any jurisdiction, may provide legal services in this jurisdiction that:

(1) are provided to the lawyer’s employer or its organizational affiliates and are not services for which the forum requires pro hac vice admission; or

(2) are services that the lawyer is authorized to provide by federal law or other law of this jurisdiction.

Model Rule 5.5 comment 14

A variety of factors evidence such a relationship.  (a) The lawyer’s client may have been previously represented by the lawyer, or (b) may be resident in or have substantial contacts with the jurisdiction in which the lawyer is admitted.  (c) The matter, although involving other jurisdictions, may have a significant connection with that jurisdiction.  (d) In other cases, significant aspects of the lawyer’s work might be conducted in that jurisdiction or a significant aspect of the matter may involve the law of that jurisdiction.  (e) The necessary relationship might arise when the client’s activities or the legal issues involve multiple jurisdictions, such as when the officers of a multinational corporation survey potential business sites and seek the services of their lawyer in assessing the relative merits of each.  (f) In addition, the services may draw on the lawyer’s recognized expertise developed through the regular practice of law on behalf of clients in matters involving a particular body of federal, nationally-uniform foreign, or international law.
Model Rule 8.5

· The host state has two interests

· If the temporary lawyer misbehaves, the state has to have jurisdiction to discipline.  

· 8.5 gives long arm disciplinary authority
· The state has an interest in applying its own rules

· 8.5 is a choice of rule rule.  States can send their disciplinary recommendations to the lawyer’s licensing state and that state should follow it.
(a) Disciplinary Authority.  A lawyer admitted to practice in this jurisdiction is subject to the disciplinary authority of this jurisdiction, regardless of where the lawyer’s conduct occurs.  A lawyer not admitted in this jurisdiction is also subject to the disciplinary authority of this jurisdiction if the lawyer provides or offers to provide any legal services in this jurisdiction.  A lawyer may be subject to the disciplinary authority of both this jurisdiction and another jurisdiction for the same conduct.

(b) Choice of Law.  In any exercise of the disciplinary authority of this jurisdiction, the rules of professional conduct to be applied shall be as follows:

(1) for conduct in connection with a matter pending before a tribunal, the rules of the jurisdiction in which the tribunal sits, unless the rules of the tribunal provide otherwise; and

(2) for any other conduct, the rules of the jurisdiction in which the lawyer’s conduct occurred, or, if the predominant effect of the conduct is in a different jurisdiction, the rules of that jurisdiction shall be applied to the conduct.  A lawyer shall not be subject to discipline if the lawyer’s conduct conforms to the rules of a jurisdiction in which the lawyer reasonably believes the predominant effect of the lawyer’s conduct will occur.

“Local Office, National Practice” (p. 572)

· Lily is admitted in DC, but has a national practice negotiating employment agreements for high priced executives.

· Nearly all her business is outside DC.

· Negotiations with employers and meetings with clients can occur anywhere, including the client’s home state, the employer’s main office, an airport hotel.

· The agreements usually provide that the employer’s home state law governs

· Terms and advice can include salary, pension, profit sharing, stock options, tax issues, benefits, job title and responsibility.

· Questions about L’s work:

· On whose law is she advising?

· Where is she doing the work?

· Can she require her client and the prospective employer to come to DC where she is admitted?

· This would probably ruin her practice.

· Can she do all the work from DC “virtually” without physically entering any state?

· It is unlikely that people will challenge her fee in a fee dispute which is where this applies the most.

· What about specifying that DC law will apply to all the agreements?

· This is not as certain as working in DC, but this won’t work for her clients.

· Can she just not go into any one state too often?
· But we don’t know how often too often is.

· If she isn’t in any one state too long, she probably won’t be in too long to violate a temporary test.

C.  Unauthorized Practice of Law
· Differs from lawyers engaged in unauthorized practice when they practice in a jurisdiction other than the one where they are admitted.

· In that case, there is a movement to expand the bubble and give more freedom to allow people temporarily practice in other jurisdictions.
· Another problem is when people who aren’t lawyers purport to practice law; this can cause great harm to clients.

· Consumer protection or maintaining monopoly prices

· A concept with many exceptions

· Accountants
· Advocates in non-judicial tribunals

· Financial advisers

· Patent examiners

· Realtors

· Who decides what constitutes law practice and whether to allow an exception:  courts or legislatures?

· From Norman Dacey to Quicken Family Lawyer

Professional Adjusters, Inc. v. Tandon (p. 595)

· In an insured loss, there is very little reason to go to court.

· Following an insured loss, a company may use employed or independent adjusters to settle the claim.

· Employed adjusters were authorized to settle

· Independent adjusters evaluated the claim and reported to the company, which could then settle it.

· Staff adjusters can negotiate, but the independent ones can’t.

· The Tandons had a fire loss and tried unsuccessfully to settle but the company’s offer was deemed too low.

· The Tandons hired П for a contingent fee.

· П settled the claim for “substantially more” after an investigation and appraisal taking 65 hours.

· Δ refused to pay the contingent fee on the grounds that they were practicing the unauthorized practice of law.
· П was a public adjuster, a status created by statute.

· To be a public adjuster, an applicant had to pass a detailed written exam and be certified by the insurance commissioner.

· The statute entitled public adjusters to appraise losses and also to negotiate claims on behalf of the insured.

· Court:  “This is, pure and simple, the practice of law.”

· Appraisal alone would be allowed.  Negotiation, however, required the adjuster to construe the “rights and liabilities of other persons.”  The insured can’t retina an independent adjuster to negotiate a settlement even though the insurance company can do it.
· But many agents, e.g. theatrical, literary, sports, talent, business, and real estate agents negotiate.

· What is the difference between a public adjuster, who the court says cannot negotiate and settle a loss, and an insurer’s employed adjuster who can, assuming both are authorized by their principal and both get approval for the settlement amount?

· The premise here is that only the court can say who can practice law and what law practice is.  Why?

VI.  MALPRACTICE
A.  Introduction
Togstad v. Vesely, Otto, Miller & Keefe (p. 612)

· John Togstad suffered paralysis and loss of speech following a hospital stay to treat an aneurism.

· 14 months later, Joan Togstad, his wife, met with lawyer Jerre Miller about the situation.

· Joan told Miller everything that happened at the hospital.  Miller took notes; the meeting lasted 45 minutes.

· Joan:  “Miller didn’t think we had a legal case, however, he was going to discuss this with his partner.”

· No fees were discussed or paid.

· When Joan did not hear from Miller, she assumed he had concluded there was no case.

· Miller: Said he told Joan that she didn’t have a case that their firm would be interested in taking, but that was “only his opinion”.  If she wanted to get another opinion, she ought to do so promptly.  Since their firm was not expert in medical malpractice, he would consult with Charles Hvass, whom Miller said he consulted a couple of days later.

· It was Miller’s “impression” that Hvass did not think there was a case.  

· Hvass did not recall this consultation.

· After the SOL on the suit had run, the Togstads learned they may have had a case.

· They sued Miller and his firm for legal malpractice that deprived them of their claim for medical malpractice.

· The case within a case- in order to prevail, they have to prove a defect of the firm as well as proximate cause and injury.
· They have to prove failure to timely file and that the negligence caused them to be injured, i.e. they would have won the underlying case.  So they have to prove the medical malpractice as well as the legal malpractice.

· Mr. Togstad was still a П in the case even though he had not met the lawyer.  You have to have a relationship to sue, but his relationship was formed through an agent- his wife.

· Elements of a legal malpractice claim:

· An attorney-client relationship

· The attorney acted negligently or in breach of contract

· The Δ’s action proximately caused the damages (failure to timely file)

· But for the negligence, the П would have won the underlying case.

· Miller’s legal argument:

· There was no attorney-client relationship

· I only told her that she didn’t have a case that interested us.

· Even if there was an attorney-client relationship, at most I made an error of judgment, which is not negligence and not actionable.
· The jury was also told that I could be found liable for failing to advise on the SOL (2 years).  This was wrong bc there is no such duty.

· We don’t know if the jury relied on this alternate but legally incorrect theory of liability.

· The court:

· Miller “failed to perform the minimal research that an ordinarily prudent attorney would do before rendering legal advice in a case of this nature.”

· What was Miller’s advice?

· What should he have done before giving it?

· Get the hospital records

· Consult an expert (since he was not himself an expert).

· What should Miller have done if he did not want to take the case?

· Miller could have told them he wasn’t interested in the case but it was not an opinion on the merits of the case and advised them to consult another attorney quickly.  He could also have put it in writing.

· The court:

· The jury could properly find Miller negligent in failing to warn the Togstads about the 2 year SOL even though 14 months had already run.

· Does it mean a lawyer who doesn’t want a case must nonetheless research and advise on the SOL?

· Sometimes it’s not so clear (when did it begin to run, has it tolled, what is the theory of recovery)

· Is the lawyer at malpractice risk if the advice on the statute turns out to be wrong?

· The duty to alert П about the length of the SOL arose bc he gave an opinion.  It was the conjunction of the opinion as well as the advice about the SOL that became important.  By giving the legal advice, he created a duty to say something about the SOL.  If all he said was that he wasn’t interested, the SOL would not have been a factor.

· “based on П’s testimony…that she requested and has received legal advice from Miller…and the…testimony of Hvass (that he would advise on the statute),” the jury’s verdict is reasonable.

If a lawyer doesn’t want a case, he should say no and give no opinion (unlike in Togstad).  If the SOL is about to expire it might make sense to tell the prospective client to be safe.
· Standard of Care- 
· Care, skill, judgment, prudence, diligence of lawyers in the state with regard to the particular kind of work.

· In most cases you need expert testimony stating what the standard of care is.

· Lawyers who promote themselves as experts in an area of law are held to a higher standard.

· Fraud:  Lying to clients

· Fiduciary duty:  “utmost good faith and loyalty”

· The client is not a target of opportunity.  You have to treat the client professionally so that their interests become yours.

· How does it differ from malpractice- sometimes greater damages than in malpractice 
· Types of fiduciary duty breaches:

· (Intentional) conflicts as a fiduciary duty breach

· Misuse of confidential info (to help a competitor)

· Sex with clients as a fiduciary duty breach

Tante v. Herring (p. 620)

· Tante represented Herring in her disability claim before the SSA.

· He secured all the relief she wanted.

· During the representation, he had an affair with Herring.

· He exploited his confidential knowledge of her medical and psychological condition in persuading her to enter the affair.

· This states a claim for damages (no expert required).

· Commencement of a “consensual” sexual relationship with a current client routinely results in discipline without regard to whether the client’s matter has been compromised and even if the jurisdiction has no specific rule forbidding it.

B.  Proving Malpractice

Smith v. Haynsworth, Marion, McKay, & Geurard (p. 627)

· Smith and Murray contracted to buy lots in a development built by Bashor.
· Two Haynsworth partners were investors in Bashor’s development
· The firm represented Bashor on the development and otherwise

· П lawyers want to use language from the ethics code when it was pertinent to the theory of liability.  

· Smith and Murray want to call Adams, a law professor, to testify to the firm’s conflict and also want to introduce relevant ethics rules.

· Adams is not admitted in the state.

· The court said even when lawyers could not reference the rules by name, they could refer to the duty created by the rules.

· Rules scope:

· [20] Violation of a Rule should not itself give rise to a cause of action against a lawyer nor should it create any presumption in such a case that a legal duty has been breached… The Rules are designed to provide guidance to lawyers and to provide a structure for regulating conduct through disciplinary agencies.  They are not designed to be a basis for civil liability… Nevertheless, since the Rules do establish standards of conduct by lawyers, a lawyer’s violation of a Rule may be evidence of breach of the applicable standard of conduct.

Restatement § 52(b) Proof of a violation of a rule or statute regulating the conduct of lawyers:

(a)  does not give rise to an implied cause of action for professional negligence or breach of fiduciary duty… [and]

(c)  may be considered by a trier of fact as an aid in understanding and applying the standard of Subsection (1) [describing the duty of care] or § 49 [concerning breach of fiduciary duty] to the extent that (i) the rule or statue was designed for the protection of persons in the position of the claimant and (ii) proof of the content and construction of such a rule or statute is relevant to the claimant’s claim.

C.  Fee Forfeiture and Disgorgement

· Used when lawyers are in conflicted situations related to representation
· Hendry v. Pelland (p. 630)

· П claimed that by virtue of a multiple representation in a land transaction, the Δ firm breached its duty of loyalty, thereby warranting loss of its fee even absent other injury.

· Court:  The remedy serves three purposes:

· Deters unethical conduct

· Denies a disloyal fiduciary compensation
· Compensates the client for the diminished value of the services.

· Open questions:

· Right to jury trial?

· Should the fee loss be total?

· Should it instead be adjusted by considering the value of any untainted services?

· Should it be prospective from the time of the misconduct only?

· Should a lawyer lose all or part of a fee for violating a rule that does not require proof of conscious wrongdoing or negligence?

D.  Causation in Malpractice
Viner v. Sweet (p. 633)

· The Viners claim that Sweet and Williams & Connelly were guilty of malpractice in misrepresenting to them the terms by which MEI bought their interest in Dove Audio and in otherwise failing to protect their interests.
· They claim that certain terms they wanted in the contract were not in the contract.

· The trial court refused Δ’s requested instruction on “but for” causation.  The court did instruct the jury that a cause of an injury “is something that is a substantial factor in bringing about the harm”.  The intermediate appeals court affirmed.
· Reasons the lower court rejected the but for test:  Unlike litigation,

· Transactions are not zero-sum situations.

· Transactions are complex with many variables.

· Transaction malpractice requires prediction of future events, not an historical review.
· Court on appeal:

· The “but for” or “concurrent independent cause” tests apply in transactional matters

· П must show that it is more likely than not that the Δ’s conduct was a cause in fact of the loss

· You have to show that the client could have gotten a better deal or that they would have been better off with no deal.
· Circumstantial evidence is allowed as always

· What should the Viners’ lawyer do on remand?

The lawyer has to prove that but for the defaults the Viners would have come out better (more likely than not).

The Viners could say they would have walked away, and they can prove the company was worth X dollars then and Y dollars today.  The package they got by accepting the contract was worth less than X and Y and they are entitled to the difference.

· Is the “but for” test the correct one even in litigation?

· Sometimes the malpractice comes up years after the underlying case and is hard to prove.

· Firm also has confidential info to use where the original prospective Δ might not have had that info to use.

· The question of settlement value- most litigation is settled.  The П would likely not have to prove the underlying case but would have settled.
· The different causation rule (sometimes) in breach of fiduciary duty cases

· Re v. Kornstein, Veisz & Wexler (p. 258)

· Re believed that the Kornstein lawyers didn’t adequately cross examine the Paul Weiss partner.  Re discovered that Paul Weiss was also a Kornstien client.  He sued for malpractice and breach of duty.

Judge Sotomayor said she didn’t think there was malpractice and she wouldn’t let it go to the jury.  On breach of fiduciary duty, she said a jury could conclude that Kornstein was in a conflicted position not bc they of the employment relationship but bc of the small amount of business Paul Weiss gave to Kornstien.  She said that a jury wouldn’t find but-for, but the jury could find Kornstien was a substantial factor in the loss. So the fiduciary duty claim was allowed to go to the jury.

· Breach of fiduciary duty for personal gain:  In a later case, the courts say the substantial factor test can only be used when the breach of fiduciary duty is for personal gain.  This stood until the Weil Gotshal case.

Weil Gotshal v. Fashion Boutique (p. 639)

· In 1993, firm begins to represent Fashion Boutique in trademark case against Fendi.

· In October 1999, Prada acquires a controlling interest in Fendi.

· Later in 1999, firm partners begin to represent Prada on unrelated matters.

· The partners representing FB and Prada each missed the other representation.

· FB concludes that Weil failed to cross examine and investigate certain leads.
· FB claimed that the firm’s allegiance to Prada undermined its zeal in representing FB (did not want to antagonize Prada that partly owned its adversary Fendi).

· FB lost at trial and on appeal.

· Weil sued FB for its fee and FB counterclaimed alleging breach of fiduciary duty and malpractice.

· Weil moves to dismiss and the appellate division rejects.

· Court:  FB should have a chance to prove its facts at trial but the breach of fiduciary duty theory is merged into malpractice and the П must prove that malpractice is a “but for” cause of their “injury”.

· The rule in this case depends on the jurisdiction- in NY, if you file a fiduciary duty and malpractice claim, it becomes just a malpractice claim.

“When Sally Left Harry” (p. 609)

· Nearly 3 years ago, Adam Rosini represented sally James in her divorce from Harry Kovair.
· Under state law, spouses divided all property equally.

· But inheritances during the marriage if kept segregated are not divided.

· When Sally and Harry divorced it was not clear whether increase in the value of inheritances were subject to division.

· Harry had inherited real estate that had increased $3 million in value.

· Adam did not claim half that increase for Sally.

· Sally has begun to ask questions about Adam’s failure to secure half the increased value and last week, she consulted our inquirer, Zoe, whether Adam may have erred.

· Zoe agreed to investigate and Sally is returning to the office tomorrow.

· Here is the info Zoe gives us:

· The Rojinski opinion, from an intermediate appellate court in another part of the state, which is not binding on courts in Sally and Harry’s county, had ruled that the increase is not part of the marital estate.

· Adam represented the successful spouse in rojinski.

· Rojinski was settled without an appeal to the state supreme court.

· Out of state high court decisions were then mixed but mostly disagreed with Rojinski

· Last year the state supreme court decided another case agreeing with Rojinski.

· That decision was legislatively reversed prospectively.

· On these facts, does Sally have a claim against Adam and his firm?  
· There is a claim.

· Adam will argue that he knows she would have lost based on the later court decision siding against her position.  But since back then, no one knew what the courts in the district would have done, perhaps she would have won or Harry would have settled.

· The uncertainty of the law created settlement value; settlement belongs to the client. The client has the right to know all of the factors influencing the size of the settlement she is willing to accept.

· What are her damages?  How can Zoe prove them?

· Zoe should introduce the testimony of practitioners in the area showing how similar claims were treated prior to the recent decision siding with Rojinski.

· Additional info:

· When Adam represented Sally, his partner was representing a limited real estate partnership negotiating for a parcel of land on which to build a shopping center.

· Harry owned a 25% interest in the partnership.

· Do these additional facts change anything?

· Sally’s claim is more attractive considering the partnership bc this creates a conflict of interest for the firm.

· There was also additional conflict bc Sally didn’t have all the info when considering who to hire.  There was a conflict between his personal interest and the interest of Sally.

· Zoe’s partner is representing Adam’s partner on a personal estate litigation where the partner is executor of her stepfather’s estate.  Zoe did a conflicts check before proceeding to her preliminary investigation of Sally’s matter but did not plug in the names of Adam’s partners individually.  She now discovers her partner’s work for Adam’s partner.

· How if at all does this info affect Zoe’s ability to accept the case?

· Zoe can’t accept the case without consent.  A victory in Zoe’s case can harm Adam’s partner.  Even in a limited liability situation, the partner has an interest in not seeing a large judgment assessed against her firm.
· If Zoe needs consent and doesn’t want to get it or can’t get it (but from who would she need to get it?), what if anything does she have to say to Sally about the SOL on the claim against Adam and his firm?  It has just over 7 weeks to run.

· You should tell Zoe to tell Sally that she can’t take the case bc of conflict, and if she wants to pursue the case she should consult another lawyer bc there is a SOL.

· Flatt v. Superior Court, 855 P.2d 950 (CA 1994) (4-3)

· Lawyer realized that the prospective client’s claim could not be handled bc the firm actually represented that firm in other matters.  The lawyer told the client they couldn’t accept the case bc of a conflict, and didn’t talk about the SOL which ran before the client could bring the case.

· Court upheld s.j. for the firm and said it would have been disloyal to tell the prospective client about the SOL.  

· Dissent said the firm went far enough down the path that it had a duty to tell the prospective client.

E.  Malpractice in Criminal Cases

· Merely proving malpractice doesn’t entitle one to damages for the consequences of conviction.
Peeler v. Hughes & Luce (p. 642)

· Law firm (via partner Jordan) represented Peeler in a criminal tax case

· $250K non-refundable retainer plus hourly fee (large non-refundable deposits are often not allowed now)
· She eventually accepted a plea deal

· Pleads guilty to one count
· Sentence is a fine and $250K restitution and 5 years probation

· Charges are dropped against her husband.

· Peeler:  Jordan never told me that the US offered complete immunity for testimony against others.

· Hughes & Luce was then representing at least one other Δ.

· Court:  Peeler cannot prove “but for” causation
· As a matter of public policy, the legal cause of Peeler’s conviction is her crime, not Jordan’s failure to inform her of the plea offer

· To recover, a criminal Δ client must be” exonerated”

· Dissent:  No case cited by the majority established, as is so here, that “but for” the malpractice the client would conclusively have avoided conviction.

· Dissent said they don’t subscribe to preponderance of evidence more likely to be convicted as in the minority view.  Here they know she definitely would not have been convicted if Jordan had done his job.  In this situation, there is but-for causation.

· The ineffectiveness view may vindicate your claim of error, but you are still incarcerated. If you are factually innocent, who will pay for that?

· An ineffectiveness claim has some value, but it can’t substitute for the remedies available in malpractice.

· Minority view in some jurisdictions said if but for malpractice client can prove the malpractice resulted in introduction of incriminatory evidence that caused conviction and without which conviction would have been unlikely, there should be judgment against the lawyer.
· Posner (articulation of the majority view):  Tort law provides damages for harms to “legally protected interests…and the liberty of a guilty criminal is not one of them.”  A guilty person may be able to win an acquittal but she has no “right” to an acquittal that tort law will protect or compensate you for.  The guilty person does not have a legally protected interest against punishment in tort law
· To prevail, the client must have his conviction reversed or vacated (otherwise it collaterally estops the civil claim), and 

· For reasons of public policy, he must also prove that he “was innocent in fact, not just lucky.”

· CA SC:  Appeal and post-conviction relief are the appropriate remedies.

· Argument:  A lawyer’s professional negligence should not subject her to having to compensate a guilty person for incarceration for her crimes.

F.  Punitive Damages
“Memorandum to the Court from the Chief Judge” (p. 650)

· The Court has two cases before it raising related questions:

· Talbot v. Skidmore:  T hired S to sue M for an intentional tort

· The complaint sought compensatory and punitive damages.  The latter requires that the misconduct be “willful and outrageous”

· S negotiated a $240K settlement which T accepted.

· S never explained punitive damages to T or that she was giving them up by settling

· This is certainly malpractice.

· A jury found that T would have gotten $500K punitive damages if the case went to trial

· S admits malpractice but claims he should not have to pay for M’s willful and outrageous conduct.

· But S is standing in M’s shoes by messing up.  He has to pay what M would have paid.

· Wiggins v. Belinder:  B represented W in McNeal v. Wiggins

· The jury awarded M compensatory damages of $150K and $750K punitive damages

· The state law caps punitive damages at three times compensatory but B never made the required motion to reduce the award and it became final against W

· The jury issued a $300K judgment against B, who has appealed.

· B argues that while she may have been negligent, her behavior was not willful and outrageous, the standard for punitive damages, and she should not have to pay for W’s conduct, which was.

· Should either lawyer have to pay the judgment (for punitive damages not recovered or those paid in excess of what the law requires)?  Is the answer the same in each case or should we distinguish between them?

· Some say forcing S to make the payments doesn’t advance the goals of punitive damages.  It doesn’t punish M.  Also M might have made a bigger offer knowing of the punitive damage exposure. Giving the full 500K is presuming the 240 s purely based on compensation for actual injuries where that may not be the case.

G.  Third Party Liability
· Cases brought by people who were never clients of the firm.

· There are many ways third parties can sue now.  The most common is negligent misrepresentation or pure negligence.

· Malpractice won’t cover intentional torts, so they are careful what they allege.
Petrillo v. Bachenberg (p. 654)

· Rohrer owned land and wanted to sell.  Land can’t be sold unless it passes 2 perc tests. R asks Herigate to do perc tests.  Two of  30 are successful.

· Herrigel was R’s lawyer.  Heritage gave him and R the perc test results.

· Rohrer listed the property with Bachenberg, who asked Herrigel for the perc test results to use in selling the property.

· Herrigel sent him one page from each set of tests (the “composite report”) so it appeared that the property passed 2 out of 7 tests, not 2 of 30.

· Bachenberg bought the property at a sheriff’s sale.

· Petrillo contracted to buy it from Bachenberg, who gave her the “composite report” on the perc tests.

· Petrillo canceled the contract before closing after her own perc tests were unsatisfactory, but Bachenberg refused to return her deposit.

· She sued Bachenberg and Herrigel.

· Lower court:  Herigel had no duty to Petrillo, whom he never met.  Case dismissed.

· The complaint alleges that Herrigel was negligent in creating the composite report, causing Petrillo economic loss, i.e. she relied on it in contracting to buy the property.

· Did Herrigel have any duty to Petrillo?  
· Supreme Court said there was a duty to Petrillo, a non-client
· Does the complaint state a cause of action?

· Petrillo can’t argue breach of contract.  There was no privity so she has to argue tort.  Petrillo can argue that Herrigel encouraged her to rely on something he did.  Herrigel was negligent is presenting info upon which Petrillo reasonably relied.

· The demise of privity

· Distinguish a negligence theory from a third party beneficiary of a contract.

· Different from cases where person will say they were a third party beneficiary of the work for the client.  E.g. a will case where nephew is left money.  Lawyer forgets to put in bequest to nephew.  Nephew sues and claims to be third party beneficiary of uncle’s relationship with lawyer.  Many courts say this is valid.

· P’s argument is not this.  She just claimed she reasonably relied to her detriment.

· Third party liability is based on the foreseeable reliance of a third party on a lawyer’s opinion or factual statement
· Also different from where lawyer explicitly makes a representation to the third party inviting reliance by the third party. This will support liability to the third party.  Opinions are often required in loan agreements  where the borrower’s lawyer gives the lender an opinion letter, e.g. that the security has no prior lien.  

· Why would a lawyer do this?  Often bc a client wants the lawyer to, e.g. loan cases where the lender is loaning someone money but wants that borrower’s lawyer to give them opinions on certain restrictions on the loan to give the lender comfort.  The borrower will pressure the lawyer to do so.

· Court on appeal:

· Herrigel delivered the composite to a realtor and realtors sell property.
· A jury could find that this info would probably be given to prospective buyers.

· Herrigel then represented Bachenberg in the sale to Petrillo (would he be liable if he had not?)

· Herrigel controlled the risk that the composite report would “mislead a purchaser”.

· Herigel did nothing to prevent Petrillo’s reasonable inference that the property passed 2 of 7 tests.

· He could have given all of the report or put disclaiming language on the 2 sheets.

· Only 4 months have elapsed since the creation of the composite report.

· Potential class to whom Herrigel could be liable is not “vast”

· Petrillo is within the class of people Herrigel could foresee who would mistakenly rely on the composite.

· So we don’t have to worry about expansive liability to a large number of people.

· Dissent:  Petrillo is “too remote” from the creation of the composite for Herigel “to have foreseen the harm to her.”

Other Theories of 3rd Party Liability
· Assisting client fraud

· Negligent misrepresentation (opinion letters; Slotkin at p. 664)

· S sued hospital; lawyer repping hospital was trying to negotiate settlement. S’s lawyer wanted to know what malpractice policy was.  Lawyer said policy limit was 100K; lawyer settled for 100K and later learned that there was 1MM secondary policy.  S sued lawyer and others.  Theory about lawyer was that he said he knew it was 100K when it was actually 1MM and the secondary policy was in his files.  So he was negligent in repping his knowledge in that way.
· Jury held for S; district judge gave JNOV saying there was no duty and no liability; 2nd circuit reversed and said it was classic negligence.

· What should lawyer have said?  “client tells me…”  that is a statement not based on lawyer’s knowledge and it is sourcing it to the client.  Credibility depends on the client and not on the lawyer.  If a lawyer says something is true to their knowledge, there is additional responsibility and you run the risk of liability.

· Fraudulent concealment in discovery- sued for hiding information from the other party in discovery.
· Abuse of process; malicious prosecution- both depend on court process.
· Milberg Weiss v. Lexicon- Milberg Weiss’s reason for bringing suit was tactical to bring settlement in any amount to impeach Lexicon’s witnesses later on, and that was abuse of process.  Jury came back with 45MM compensatory damages against Milberg Weiss, and still had to deliberate on punitive damages.  Milberg settled for 50MM, 45 plus and extra 5 for giving up punitive damages claim.

· Responsibilities of lawyers as escrow agents.

· put up 10% pending closing, which is given to lawyer who puts it in escrow (trust account that can’t be mingled with the lawyers own money).  There are specific purposes of escrow.  If buyer wants money back, you have duty to your client as your client.  But you have duty to the buyer as well. So you do neither.  You say you are holding the money until a court orders what to do with it or the two parties agree.  You may believe the buyer’s claim is frivolous, but you have to be neutral and can’t decide in this instance.

· This is easy to prove, and you can be disbarred for the first infraction (in NJ you are barred for life).

“Death and Taxes and Liability” (p. 652)

· Sonny Vikar, a realtor representing Emma Newcastle, showed the Medveds property that Emma inherited from her uncle Zeke Clairborne and listed with Sonny.

· E was administrator of Z’s estate and hired attorney Chandler Pierce to help her wind it up, which includes filing estate taxes.

· The Medveds hired Naomi Kell to represent them.

· N requested title insurance from Safe-T Title that the title is good.
· A Safe-T agent called Chandler to ascertain whether all estate taxes had been paid, absent which the title insurer would be liable to the Medveds if a taxing authority levied on the property.

· C said the firm had calculated all estate taxes owing and instructed E to pay them, which she did.

· C copied N.  Safe-T wrote the policy,

· Four months later, the IRS decides tax return is not correct and filed a tax lien for $217K against the property, alleging that additional taxes are due and adding interest and penalties.
· Safe-T pays bc it has insured the title.

· Safe-T sues:


· Naomi as subrogee for the Medveds, alleging malpractice, stating that she should have protected the Medveds and those who are standing in the Medved’s shoes.
· Chandler, alleging negligence and negligent misrepresentation

· N files a cross-claim against C seeking indemnity

· C said his statement was true and he owed no duty to Emma

· N said she had a right to rely on C’s statement

· Should the estate be liable for the extra taxes in any event, if not the penalties?

· The estate should be liable for the extra taxes.  C shouldn’t have to make the estate whole by the additional taxes.  C didn’t guarantee the amount.  He may be liable for the penalty, but not for the additional taxes owed.

· Based on Lawyers Title Ins. Corp. v. Baik, 55 P.3d 619 (Wash. 2002)

· Dissent said the exact language of what he said was literally true based on the tax preparation.  They also asked who the recipient of the info is.  A title insurance company is a sophisticated party who understands these things.  It is up to them to accept C’s statement or do their own investigation.  They could have asked for a closing letter form the IRS, not insured the risk.  Why are we protecting this sophisticated entity?  They made a calculated decision to listen to C.

· Majority recognized that claim and rather than treating it as a fact that would defeat the cause of action said that C at trial can argue that the insurance company was negligent in relying on his brief statement or at least comparatively negligent which could reduce damages.  C can use the company’s sophistication to argue this.

· Other things Chandler could have said done:

· What he did say:  “this firm has calculated all estate taxes owing and instructed our client to pay them, which she did.”

· The statement in Baik:  By this letter, I am informing you that, based on our tax preparation, no estate taxes are due and owing…”

· “Enclosed is the tax return which we prepared for our clients showing taxes of $XXX, which she paid.”

· “We are answering your question as a courtesy but you should understand that we make no representations to you.”

· Have client sent a copy of the tax return with the canceled check.
